

**CANNABINOID PHARMACOLOGY/THERAPEUTICS IN CHRONIC
DEGENERATIVE DISORDERS AFFECTING THE CENTRAL NERVOUS
SYSTEM**

Maria S. Aymerich^{1,2,3}, Ester Aso^{4,5}, Miguel A. Abellanas^{1,2}, Rosa M. Tolon⁶, Jose A. Ramos^{5,7,8}, Isidre Ferrer^{4,5}, Julian Romero⁶, Javier Fernández-Ruiz^{5,7,8}

Con formato: Español (España)

¹Universidad de Navarra, Facultad de Ciencias, Departamento de Bioquímica y Genética, Pamplona, Spain

²Universidad de Navarra, CIMA, Programa de Neurociencias, Pamplona, Spain

³IdiSNA, Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria de Navarra, Spain

⁴Departamento de Patología y Terapéutica experimental, Universidad de Barcelona, L'Hospitalet de Llobregat, Spain

⁵CIBERNED, Centro de Investigación Biomédica en Red de Enfermedades Neurodegenerativas, Instituto de Salud Carlos III, Spain

⁶Facultad de Ciencias Experimentales, Universidad Francisco de Vitoria, Pozuelo de Alarcón, Spain

⁷Instituto Universitario de Investigación en Neuroquímica, Departamento de Bioquímica y Biología Molecular, Facultad de Medicina, Universidad Complutense, Madrid, Spain

⁸IRYCIS, Instituto Ramón y Cajal de Investigación Sanitaria, Madrid, Spain

Abstract

The endocannabinoid system (ECS) exerts a modulatory effect of important functions such as neurotransmission, glial activation, oxidative stress, or protein homeostasis. Dysregulation of these cellular processes is a common neuropathological hallmark in aging and in neurodegenerative diseases of the central nervous system (CNS). The broad spectrum of actions of cannabinoids allows targeting different aspects of these multifactorial diseases. In this review, we examine the therapeutic potential of the ECS for the treatment of chronic neurodegenerative diseases of the CNS focusing on Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease, Huntington's disease, and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. First, we describe the localization of the molecular components of the ECS and how they are altered under neurodegenerative conditions, either contributing to or protecting cells from degeneration. Second, we address recent advances in the modulation of the ECS using experimental models through different strategies that include the direct targeting of cannabinoid receptors with agonists or antagonists, increasing the endocannabinoid tone by the inhibition of endocannabinoid hydrolysis, and activation of cannabinoid-receptor-independent effects. Pre-clinical evidence indicates that cannabinoid pharmacology is complex, but supports the therapeutic potential of targeting the endocannabinoid system ECS. Third, we review the clinical evidence and discuss the future perspectives on how to bridge human and animal studies to develop cannabinoid-based therapies for each neurodegenerative disorder. Finally, we close summarizing the most relevant opportunities of cannabinoid pharmacology related to each disease and the multiple unexplored pathways in cannabinoid pharmacology that could be useful for the treatment of neurodegenerative diseases.

Abbreviations

A β : amyloid-beta

AD: Alzheimer's disease

AEA: anandamide

2-AG: 2-arachidonoylglycerol

ALS: amyotrophic lateral sclerosis

APP: amyloid precursor protein

BBB: blood-brain barrier

BDNF: brain-derived neurotrophic factor

CB₁: cannabinoid receptor type-1

CB₂: cannabinoid receptor type-2

CBD: cannabidiol

CBG: cannabigerol

CNS: central nervous system

DAGL: diacylglycerol lipase

ECS: endocannabinoid system

FAAH: fatty acid amide hydrolase

FTD: frontotemporal lobar dementia

FUS: fused in sarcoma protein

GPe: external segment of the globus pallidus

GPi: internal segment of the globus pallidus

GSK3 β : glycogen synthase kinase 3 β

HD: Huntington's disease

L-dopa: L-3,4-dihydroxyphenylalanine

LID: L-dopa-induced dyskinesia

LPS: lipopolysaccharide

MAGL: monoacylglycerol lipase

MPTP: 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine

NAPE-PLD: N-arachidonoyl-phosphatidylethanolamine phospholipase D

NMDA: N-methyl D-aspartate

NO: nitric oxide

iNOS: inducible nitric oxide synthase

PET: positron emission tomography

PD: Parkinson's disease

PPAR γ : peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ

ROS: reactive oxygen species

SN: substantia nigra

SNpc: substantia nigra *pars compacta*

SNpr: substantia nigra *pars reticulata*

SOD: superoxide dismutase

STN: subthalamic nucleus

TDP-43: TAR-DNA-binding protein 43

Δ^9 -THC: Δ^9 -tetrahydrocannabinol

1. Common features and challenges in the cannabinoid research in neurodegenerative diseases

Neurodegenerative diseases affecting the central nervous system (CNS), such as Alzheimer's disease (AD), Parkinson's disease (PD), Huntington's disease (HD), amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), and others, are characterized by the progressive loss of specific neuronal subpopulations, which affect selective regions of the brain and the spinal cord regions and neurotransmitter systems, thereby leading to different clinical features [1]. Since aging is the major risk factor for these diseases, the prevalence of CNS degenerative disorders of the CNS is expected to increase in the next decades [2]. Currently, there is no cure for any of these disorders. Available treatments provide transient temporary symptomatic relief, but they are poorly active in the underlying disease progression. Seeking molecules with disease-modifying activity is one of the greatest challenges demanded by patients affected by these diseases [3]. Abnormal protein accumulation, impairment of the lysosomal system, excitotoxicity, oxidative stress, and neuroinflammation are classic hallmarks of the aged brain and neurodegenerative conditions [4]. The endocannabinoid system (ECS) has the ability to modulate these common traits in neurodegeneration, thus emerging as a viable target for symptom alleviation or disease progression based on pharmacological modulation of endocannabinoid signaling [5]. Cannabinoids provide a broad-spectrum profile, which is particularly interesting when dealing with complex pathologies of multifactorial origin [6]. The pleiotropic properties of cannabinoids confer them as an important advantage molecules for the development of neuroprotective strategies. Endocannabinoid signaling involves cannabinoid receptor-dependent effects (e.g., activation of cannabinoid type-1 (CB₁) receptors to normalize glutamate homeostasis or to activate autophagy, activation of cannabinoid type-2 (CB₂) receptors and peroxisome

proliferator-activated receptor γ (PPAR γ), or modulation of G-protein receptor 55 (GPR55) to reduce local inflammatory events, ~~but~~ and also cannabinoid receptor-independent effects to reduce oxidative stress, all of which may ultimately promote neuron survival [7]. The key localization of ECS elements in the CNS and their alteration under pathological conditions suggests that this system participates in crucial processes for ~~the~~-balancing neurodegeneration/neuroprotection (Fig. 1). This review ~~is~~ focuses ~~d~~ on how the components of the ECS are altered in chronic degenerative diseases affecting the CNS, ~~such as~~ AD, PD, HD, and ALS (see footnote #1), ~~and~~ indicates ~~ing~~ that bioactivity of endocannabinoid-based therapies is likely to vary depending on the disease type and the stage at the time of treatment. The review emphasizes on recent advances in pre-clinical evidence that provides scientific support to propose cannabinoids ~~to~~for the treatment of different neurodegenerative conditions and discusses the future perspectives of cannabinoid-based therapies for the treatment of each neurological disorder.

2. Cannabinoid pharmacology in Alzheimer's disease

~~Alzheimer's disease~~AD is the most common form of dementia among the elderly, ~~and it~~ is defined ~~by~~as a progressive decline of cognition, memory, and other mental functions, ~~ultimately that~~resulting in a ~~ultimately~~-fatal outcome. The morphological hallmarks of ~~AD~~-brains affected by AD include amyloid-beta (A β) plaques and neurofibrillary

FOOTNOTE #1:

Other neurological disorders with degenerative components (e.g., multiple sclerosis, ~~and~~ spinal injury) ~~or~~ affecting the peripheral nervous system rather than the central nervous system have been reviewed in other articles within this Special Issue; ~~so~~therefore, they ~~we~~are not addressed here.

tangles composed of hyperphosphorylated microtubule-associated tau protein, which induce neuronal death and impaired inter-neuronal communication, ~~and these hallmarks~~ progress from the brain stem and inner parts of the temporal lobes to the major part of the whole telencephalon [8]. In fact, most of the experimental models of AD are based on ~~the~~-exogenous administration or ~~the~~-genetic manipulation for overexpressing ~~of~~-A β and/or hyperphosphorylated tau in cell cultures or rodent ~~models~~ [9]. Although they have some limitations because they do not fully replicate the AD pathology, those experimental models based on A β and/or hyperphosphorylated tau have significantly contributed to AD research.

However, other multiple alterations converge in the pathogenesis of AD, including synaptic degeneration, mitochondrial defects, and increased production of reactive oxygen species (ROS). In addition, ~~the~~-inflammatory responses to protein aggregation/deposition, ~~the~~-altered neurotransmission, and production of other neuromodulators, together with a vascular dysfunction and impaired degradation pathways, are assumed to play crucial roles in AD progression ~~as well also~~ [10][11]. Current available therapies against AD produce mild improvement of cognitive and functional capacities [12]. These therapies act on a single target and are administered after clinical manifestations, when there is no turning back for certain pathological events. The progression from early stages of the neurodegenerative process to symptomatic stages may take decades, whereas once the dementia symptoms appear, the disease progression accelerates causing devastating effects [10]. Therefore, two of the major goals of current research in AD are to develop new tools for early diagnosis and to search for ~~more effective~~-treatments ~~that are more effective~~ aimed at curbing or retarding disease progression toward dementia by acting on multiple targets during the prodromal period of the disease.

In this context, targeting the ECS has attracted growing interest during the last decade based on the numerous findings revealing that the stimulation of ECS contributes to modulate in parallel several of the pathological processes occurring during the early stages of AD, [thereby](#) conferring cannabinoid compounds a potential utility against this neurodegenerative disease, as summarized [below](#).

2.1. The endocannabinoid system in Alzheimer's disease

Neuropathological changes in AD trigger a potent neuroinflammatory reaction in which glial cells (astrocytes and microglia) become a source of increased cytokine production [13]. In this context, the ECS becomes profoundly altered, with modifications ranging from changes in anandamide (AEA) and 2-arachidonoylglycerol (2-AG) levels, to the expression pattern of their regulatory enzymes and of cannabinoid receptors [14].

A seminal study by Westlake et al [15] showed a significant decrease in **CB₁ receptors** in tissue sections from AD donors, as measured by autoradiography, probably ~~due~~ [because of](#) the neuronal loss associated ~~to~~ [with](#) this disease. Further studies, however, have not confirmed these observations. For instance, no changes in CB₁ receptor levels were found by immunoblotting and receptor binding in human brain samples [16]. In addition, an *in vivo* study [conducted](#) in 11 [patients with AD](#) ~~patients~~ and 7 healthy volunteers by using the specific [radiotracer \[¹⁸F\]MK-9470 for CB₁ receptor](#) ~~Positron Emission Tomography (PET) of CB₁ receptors radiotracer, [¹⁸F]MK-9470,~~ found no significant differences in CB₁ receptor availability in any of the brain regions studied [17]. It is relevant to note that a hyperactivated state of CB₁ receptor in the early stages of AD, followed by a significant decrease as the disease progresses, has been reported, [thus](#) suggesting that CB₁ receptor might have therapeutic potential in the progression of the disease [18].

Data obtained in mouse models of AD have ~~so~~ far not been conclusive either. Different groups have reported increases [19], decreases [20], or no changes [21] in CB₁ receptor levels in several brain areas (at the mRNA, protein, or receptor coupling efficiency) in the past few years. The current perception is that CB₁ receptors may play a role in the progression of AD, but it is difficult to establish the precise role(s) in which they might contribute. These could range from modifying amyloid processing to protect neurons in the risk of degeneration or to dampen inflammation (see below).

Perhaps, one of the most intriguing aspects of these changes is the profound alteration in the expression pattern of **CB₂ receptors**, ~~that~~ which takes place in AD. The analysis of human AD samples by immunohistochemistry revealed the absence of signal for CB₂ receptors in ~~control~~ brains of the control group (with a limited presence in a subset of microglial cells, such as the perivascular microglia) but an intense level of staining in AD samples [22]. Co-localization studies confirmed that CB₂ receptors were expressed in microglial cells only, located in the surrounding areas of amyloid-enriched neuritic plaques. However, questions regarding the specificity of antibodies raised against the CB₂ receptor [23] made confirmation of these data necessary. Several groups successively provided data supporting the expression of CB₂ receptors in microglial cells in the context of AD. Thus, Ramirez et al [24] reported that CB₂ receptors were present in microglial cells in human AD samples. More recently, an ~~elegant~~ classic study in which the expression of CB₂ receptors in the brains of two mouse models of AD was analyzed by immunohistochemistry and PET with the specific radiotracer [¹¹C]A836339 confirmed this observation [25]. These authors also used human samples to complete their observations that described the presence of CB₂ receptor in not only microglial cells, but also ~~in~~ astrocytes and neurons. Interestingly, CB₂ receptor levels in microglia increased in the context of AD, ~~whereas~~ while those in neurons decreased within

the disease. These data confirmed the value of CB₂ receptors as diagnostic as well as putative therapeutic targets in AD, and provided evidence for the expression of CB₂ receptors in neurons, a matter of intense controversy. Another recent *in vivo* study found a decrease in CB₂ receptor availability in patients with AD, although this observation could be biased by the affinity of the radiotracer employed towards CB₁ receptor and CB₂ receptor [26]. Finally, by means of using a newly developed reporter mouse model, we have recently corroborated the selective expression of CB₂ receptor in plaque-associated microglial cells in the 5xFAD mouse model of amyloidosis [27].

Few data are currently available regarding the levels of endocannabinoids and the functional status of their regulatory enzymes in the context of AD. The metabolism of 2-AG and AEA has been shown to be altered in AD, both in human samples as well as in mouse models of the disease, with conflicting results. Thus, while an increase in AEA and 2-AG levels in the 5xFAD model of AD has been reported [28], we were unable to find significant differences in the same animal model [29]. In addition, other authors have reported decreases in 2-AG levels in the A β PP^{swe}/PS1 Δ E9 mouse model of AD [19].

Regarding human samples, a significant decrease in AEA levels and its precursor NArPE, but not 2-AG, in the cortical areas of postmortem brain samples has been reported [30]. Furthermore, this decrease was correlated by the patients' performance in cognitive tests of psychomotor speed and linguistic ability, but not by amyloid plaque density or tau hyperphosphorylation. These data may correlate with those in previous reports in which an induction of the expression of the AEA-degrading enzyme **fatty acid amide hydrolase (FAAH)** was found in AD samples [22]. In this study, we observed an increase in FAAH immunoreactivity in hypertrophied

astrocytes located around [the](#) foci of neuroinflammation, such as amyloid plaques. This increase was paralleled by a significant augment in FAAH enzymatic activity in samples obtained by micro-dissection of amyloid plaques. Finally, Mulder et al [31] used human AD samples to obtain data indicative of an enhanced endocannabinoid signaling, involving mainly 2-AG, around neuritic plaques. This enhancement would be in direct correlation with a loss of monoacylglycerol lipase (MAGL) enzymatic activity ~~due~~[owing](#) to impairment in its recruitment to biological membranes.

Perhaps more difficult to interpret ~~are~~[is](#) data obtained from peripheral samples. The analysis of blood plasma revealed no changes in any of the endocannabinoids considered, and their levels showed no correlation with ~~the~~-cognitive performance in healthy individuals at risk of AD [32]. Other authors, however, have found a significant increase in 2-AG and PEA levels in [the](#) blood plasma of ~~AD~~-patients [with AD](#) [33], ~~that~~[and this](#) could reflect a putative protective mechanism in the development of the disease. Interestingly, another report showed [that](#) an increase in FAAH mRNA and protein in peripheral blood mononuclear cells of ~~patients with AD~~ [was patients](#)-linked to a decrease in the methylation state of the FAAH gene promoter region [34], [thus](#) suggesting a facilitation in gene expression. Inhibition of FAAH activity may render positive anti-inflammatory effects in the context of AD.

2.2. Pre-clinical evidence for the therapeutic potential of cannabinoids in Alzheimer's disease

2.2.1. Cannabinoids and A β processing

A neuroprotective role for cannabinoids against A β has been demonstrated in several *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies. The administration of endocannabinoids such as AEA, 2-AG, and noladin ether, or the supply of endocannabinoid reuptake inhibitors, increased the

viability of neurons in culture exposed to different toxic A β species [35][36][37][38]. Similarly, ~~the~~ exposure to cannabidiol (CBD), possibly the most atypical cannabinoid from a mechanistic ~~point-of-view~~ perspective [38][39]; the synthetic CB₁ receptor agonist ACEA [40]; the CB₂ ~~receptor~~ selective agonists JWH-015 and JWH-133; or ~~to~~ the mixed CB₁/CB₂ receptor agonists Δ^9 -THC, HU-210 and WIN55,212-2 [24][38][41] reduced the A β peptide toxicity *in vitro*. Neuroprotection against A β deleterious effects might underlie ~~the~~ memory improvement observed after treatment with certain cannabinoids in animal models of AD. Either the elevation of endocannabinoids levels [42] or the administration of synthetic selective CB₁ or CB₂ receptors agonists [43][44][45], or non-specific CB₁/~~or~~ CB₂ receptor agonists [24][46][47] or CBD [46], reduced memory impairment in A β -injected rodents. Moreover, chronic treatment with ACEA [40], JWH-133 [48][49], WIN55,212-2 [48], CBD [50][51], or with a combination of Δ^9 -THC and CBD [52][53] reduced the cognitive impairment in two different transgenic mouse models of AD.

Multiple mechanisms might participate in ~~the~~ neuroprotection against A β mediated by cannabinoid compounds, acting in parallel or interacting within them. Apart from the capacity of cannabinoids to indirectly mitigate the harmful effects of A β (i.e., inflammation ~~and~~ oxidative stress), which are discussed in the next sections, a direct effect of cannabinoids on A β processing has also been reported. Δ^9 -THC directly interacts with A β , ~~thereby~~ inhibiting its aggregation [41], and CBD induces the amyloid precursor protein (APP) ubiquitination and the consequent decrease in A β production ~~viathrough the~~ activation of PPAR γ [54].

CB₂ receptor agonists facilitate A β clearance by stimulating the phagocytic activity of macrophages [55][45] and by favoring A β transport through the choroid plexus [48]. Similar A β clearance across the blood-brain barrier (BBB) was also demonstrated for

2-AG, a synthetic CB₁/CB₂ receptor agonist, and MAGL, but not for FAAH inhibitors, in *in vitro* and *in vivo* BBB models [56]. The reduction in A β levels observed in AD mouse models chronically treated with CB₂ or CB₁/CB₂ receptor agonists [48][28][57] and MAGL inhibitors [28][58] could be explained by the facilitation of A β clearance. In line with these observations, the genetic deletion of CB₂ receptors altered the A β levels in two different AD models [59][60][61]. ~~By~~ contrast, the specific role of CB₁ receptors on A β production ~~is still~~remains a matter of debate. Whereas some authors reported that specific agonists of this receptor did not alter the A β production, aggregation, or clearance in two different transgenic AD models [40][62], others provided evidence about a crosstalk between CB₁ receptors and APP. On one hand, deletion of these receptors resulted in reduced APP protein levels and A β plaque deposition in APP23 transgenic mice [63], but not in APP/PS1 mice [64]. Furthermore, APP overexpression altered membrane localization and inhibitory signaling activity of CB₁ receptors in the hippocampus of Tg2576 mice [65]. On the other hand, the combination of Δ^9 -THC and CBD, but not each cannabinoid individually, resulted in a reduction ~~of~~in soluble A β ₄₂ levels, the most toxic form of the A β peptide. This activity was CB₂ receptor independent and might be achieved by facilitation of A β ₄₂ deposition in plaques to decrease its toxicity [52][61].

2.2.2. Effects of cannabinoids on tau hyperphosphorylation

Cannabinoids are able to modulate tau hyperphosphorylation, another ~~AD~~pathological hallmark ~~of AD~~. Pioneering studies performed in A β -stimulated PC12 neuronal-like cells demonstrated that CBD, ACEA, and WIN_55,212-2, inhibited tau hyperphosphorylation by reducing the active form of glycogen synthase kinase 3 β (GSK3 β) by direct activation of CB₁ receptor [66][67]. In agreement with these studies,

a significant reduction ~~of~~ hyperphosphorylated tau levels was reported in the area surrounding A β plaques after ~~the~~ chronic treatment with ACEA in the APP/PS1 mice [40], likely through the reduction ~~of~~ GSK3 β activity as ~~was~~ suggested in other studies [41]. Moreover, the same authors revealed a reduction ~~of~~ the activity of different tau kinases in APP/PS1 mice chronically treated with a specific CB₂ receptor agonist, lowering tau hyperphosphorylation in neurites closely related to A β deposition [49]. ~~In~~By contrast, deletion of CB₂ receptors did not modify tau hyperphosphorylation in dystrophic neurites associated ~~to~~with A β plaques in the APP/PS1 mouse [61]. ~~Al~~though total tau levels were significantly decreased in a different AD mouse model lacking CB₂ receptors [59]. According to the hypothesis that suggests a role for cannabinoids in tau phosphorylation, a combination of Δ^9 -THC and CBD natural extracts reduced the formation of neurofibrillary tangles in parkin-~~kn~~ null, human tau overexpressing (PK-~~kn~~/TauVLW) mice, a model of complex frontotemporal dementia (FTD), parkinsonism, and lower motor neuron disease [70].

2.2.3. Anti-inflammatory effects of cannabinoids

It is currently accepted that the activation of the ECS is part of a neuroprotective response against different types of brain injury, including the appearance of neuritic plaques. The involvement of the ECS is partially based on its anti-inflammatory properties derived of the activation of CB₁ and CB₂ receptors [24][48]; and also of PPAR γ receptors [47][71] by endogenous ligands as well as by phyto- and synthetic cannabinoids. As mentioned before, CB₂ receptors are upregulated in microglial cells in ~~the context of~~ AD, ~~thus~~ suggesting a role for them in the neuroinflammatory process triggered by amyloid deposition. This role has been described in studies performed both *in vivo* and *in vitro*, ~~thus~~ confirming the anti-inflammatory effects associated ~~to~~with CB₂

activation (reviewed in [72][73]). Interestingly, these effects are accompanied by improvements in behavioral performance and also by decreased deposition of amyloid plaques, probably ~~due~~owing to a CB₂-mediated decrease in cytokine secretion and enhancement of amyloid removal by increased phagocytosis.

However, recent studies suggest that the contribution of this receptor type to AD progression and to the therapeutic effects of certain ECS modulators may be more complex than initially expected. Thus, the neuroprotective effect of an MAGL inhibitor in APP transgenic mice was independent of CB₂ receptors [74]. Similar results were obtained in APP/PS1 mice treated with a combination of Δ^9 -THC and CBD [61]. These results are in agreement with those suggesting a limited role for CB₂ receptors in the progression of AD-like pathology in 5xFAD [75][27] or APP/PS1 mice [61].

One of the most promising approaches for neuroprotection is the indirect enhancement of endocannabinoid~~s~~ levels through the inhibition of MAGL and FAAH [28][29] [58][75][74]. Both the pharmacological blockade of MAGL with JZL184 ~~as well as~~and its genetic inactivation~~s~~, improved behavior, decreased the density of amyloid plaques, ~~and~~ reduced astro- and microgliosis and the production of inflammatory cytokines [58][75]. Interestingly, none of these effects were prevented by CB₁ receptor or CB₂ receptor antagonists~~s~~, but were mediated primarily by alterations in arachidonic acid and/or prostaglandin signaling. As mentioned above, degradation of 2-AG by MAGL has been proposed as a novel pathway for prostaglandin synthesis and a new target to suppress neuroinflammation [76].

Evidence ~~points towards~~suggests a beneficial effect of FAAH inhibition in animal models of age-related neuroinflammation [29][77]. Murphy *et al* [77] demonstrated that the selective FAAH inhibitor~~s~~, URB597~~s~~, reversed the age-linked inflammation in terms of cytokine expression and preserved hippocampal long~~-~~term potentiation in aged rats.

Pharmacological inhibition of FAAH with URB597 had a limited effect in 5xFAD mice in terms of cytokine expression and behavior, which contrasted with the significant changes observed after genetic inhibition [29]. Interestingly, our data are suggestive of a putative shift in the ~~endocannabinoid system~~ECS neurotransmission from a CB₁ receptor-mediated anti-inflammatory action to a pro-inflammatory one, in the context of AD and triggered by a long-term inhibition of FAAH. Paradoxically, this long-term inhibition would also be beneficial, as mice showed improvements in memory and decreased amyloid deposition. It is still unknown whether these changes involve, for instance, preservation of neuronal morphology in the hippocampus. In any case, it seems ~~to be currently not~~ accepted that inhibiting FAAH activity may render positive effects, and, in fact, mixed inhibitors for FAAH and other enzymes, i.e., acetylcholinesterase (AChE) or butyrylcholinesterase, are under study ~~in order~~ to be used as potential therapeutic tools for AD [78][79].

2.2.4. Other effects of cannabinoids

Many studies report different effects of cannabinoids with potential interest for AD. Alterations in the components of the respiratory chain located in the inner mitochondrial membrane that lead to the production of excessive ROS are described in ~~AD~~AD-brains affected by AD [80], with ~~the~~ subsequent oxidative damage of certain macromolecules that jeopardizes their functionality. Compounds that are able to counteract free radical damage are then assumed to confer neuroprotection, ~~that~~which bestows them potential utility against AD [81]. Among the antioxidant compounds tested in AD models, a few cannabinoids have been included. CBD was the first one to be evaluated. CBD prevented ROS production and lipid peroxidation in PC12 neuronal-like cells exposed to A β , reduced apoptosis, and counteracted the A β -induced increase in intracellular

calcium concentration [39]. CBD also reduced the levels of nitric oxide (NO) ~~as well~~ ~~as~~ and the expression of the inducible NO synthase (iNOS) [67][82]. Mechanisms of action of CBD have been classically assigned to cannabinoid receptor-independent antioxidant properties, a fact derived from its particular chemical structure having two hydroxyl groups. Recent evidence relates this potential to novel non-endocannabinoid signaling mechanisms, e.g., PPAR- γ , Nrf-2 signaling, and adenosine signaling [68]. Recent studies claim for a role of CBD as a negative allosteric modulator of both CB₁ [69] and CB₂ [83] receptors. Although, it is unlikely that this capability may underlie its anti-excitotoxic, anti-inflammatory, and neuroprotective properties, which are related to elevated rather than reduced CB₁ and CB₂ receptor signaling. These properties may be supported by the ability of CBD to increase the activity of mitochondrial complexes in a hippocampal cell line [84], in different structures related to AD in the rat brain [85] and to rescue memory deficits in rats [86]. However, studies using the mitochondrial fraction from the pig brain cortex claim that CBD inhibits the activity of the respiratory chain [87][88].

~~Cannabinoids also exhibited antioxidant properties in *in vivo* models of AD. Thus,~~ The selective CB₂ receptor agonist JWH-133 reduced hydroxynonenal adducts, derived from lipid peroxidation, and enhanced the levels of the superoxide dismutases 1 and 2 in the area surrounding A β plaques in APP/PS1 mice, thus demonstrating a role for CB₂ receptors in promoting responses against oxidative stress and reducing its harmful consequences [49]. The combination of Δ^9 -THC and CBD also resulted in a reduction of free radicals in a mouse model of tauopathy [70] and in the augmentation of the levels of thioredoxin 2 protein, a member of the mitochondrial antioxidant system responsible for the clearance of reactive intermediates and the repair of proteins with oxidative damage [52].

Certain cannabinoids are known to act on the same targets ~~than~~ compared to the current AD-mediations for AD, i.e., AChE inhibitors and noncompetitive antagonists of the N-methyl D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor. Δ^9 -THC competitively inhibits AChE increasing acetylcholine availability and prevents ~~ing~~ AChE-induced A β aggregation [89]. CB₂ receptor agonists exhibit inhibitory effects on butyrylcholinesterase [90]. The synthetic cannabinoid HU-211 inhibits NMDA receptors, thereby protecting cells from glutamate-induced neurotoxicity [91][92][93]. CB₁ receptors mediate neuroprotection against excitotoxicity by inhibiting presynaptic glutamate release [94] and excessive calcium release [95][96][97]. In agreement with these observations, the combination of Δ^9 -THC and CBD modulated the levels of certain glutamatergic and GABAergic receptors in the cortex of aged APP/PS1 mice, thus suggesting an attempt of these natural cannabinoids to reduce the imbalance of excitatory *versus* inhibitory neural activity occurring in AD [53].

Additional beneficial effects of cannabinoids in AD include their capacity to prevent A β -mediated lysosomal destabilization in cultured neurons, thereby reducing the apoptotic signaling [98]; to promote neurogenesis in response to A β insult [82][99]; to normalize the levels of the pre-synaptic SNAP25 protein involved in aberrant neuritic sprouting in brain areas affected by A β [49]; and to induce autophagy facilitating the degradation of aberrant cellular components [70]. Moreover, a recent study revealed that the CB₁/CB₂ mixed agonist WIN 55,212-2 and the CB₂ selective agonist JWH-133 ameliorated the vascular dysfunction in a transgenic model of AD [100]. In addition, a role for **CB₂ agonists** in stimulating brain glucose uptake was also described in the same animal model [101].

2.3. Therapeutic implications for a cannabinoid-based therapy for Alzheimer's disease: clinical evidence and future perspectives

Considering the complexity of the pathological mechanisms involved in the progression of AD, compounds such as cannabinoids targeting in parallel several processes that play key roles in AD could offer a more promising therapeutic profile than treatments targeting a single causal or modifying factor. However, as described above, the potential therapeutic utility of cannabinoids in AD is mainly based on the evidence obtained using *in vitro* and *in vivo* models. Consequently, there is a need to move the evidence from the bench to the bed. Nevertheless, it is worth noting that the limited clinical information on the use of cannabinoids in patients with dementia also suggests some beneficial effects. Clinical trials in AD-patients with AD at advanced stages who received an analogue of Δ^9 -THC (nabilone or dronabinol) for several weeks showed a significant reduction in agitation and aggression refractory to antipsychotics and anxiolytics, together with weight gain in individuals previously rejecting food, although no reduction in other neuropsychiatric symptoms was observed. Equally important is the almost total absence of side effects observed during treatment with Δ^9 -THC in these patients, and beyond a certain euphoria, drowsiness or fatigue [102][103][104][105][106][107]. Despite the limited number of subjects included in the trials and the lack of assessment of cognitive parameters and markers of neurodegeneration, which limits drawing definitive conclusions about the effectiveness of Δ^9 -THC in the treatment of dementia [108], the available information derived from these studies is relevant and, together with the extensive basic evidence, provides encouragement for conducting controlled clinical trials geared to clarifying the therapeutic potential of cannabinoids in AD.

3. Cannabinoid pharmacology in Parkinson's disease

PD, the second most common neurodegenerative disease, is a motor disorder affecting 1-2% of the population ~~aged over~~ more than 65 years, with an incidence that increases with age [109]. The classic motor symptoms, rigidity, bradykinesia, and tremor, are caused by the striatal dopamine deficit generated by the specific loss of dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra *pars compacta* (SNpc). The SNpc, the striatum (caudate nucleus and putamen), the globus pallidus (internal and external segments, GPi and GPe, respectively), and the substantia nigra *pars reticulata* (SNpr) are subcortical structures that are part of the basal ganglia, a group of brain nuclei involved in the control of movement ~~which~~ whose activity is primarily affected in PD. The most effective treatment for PD is levodopa (L-dopa), a dopamine-replacement therapy that was identified 50 years ago [110]. However, as the disease progresses and more neurons are lost, the efficacy of L-dopa decreases and patients experience motor fluctuations and abnormal involuntary movements known as L-dopa-induced dyskinesias (LID) [111]. The ~~D~~development of new non-dopaminergic drugs capable ~~to~~ of attenuatinge motor symptoms without producing dyskinesia is necessary. Ultimately, disease-modifying treatments are needed to stop the neurodegenerative process. On the ~~B~~basis ~~ed~~ ~~o~~ f the cellular location of cannabinoid targets and the neuroprotective activities described for cannabinoids, they represent an interesting therapeutic approach for PD.

Different aspects of the disease can be reproduced in experimental animals. Models based on ~~C~~classic neurotoxins-based models, such as 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP), 6-hydroxydopamine (6-OHDA), rotenone, paraquat, or lipopolysaccharide (LPS), reproduce the loss of dopaminergic neurons and the motor impairment, thus representing a late-stage model of the disease. Transgenic or knockout genetic models simulate better the pathogenic mechanisms of PD, but their pathological

and behavioural phenotype is often quite different from [that of](#) the human condition.

Similar strategies are used to generate *in vitro* cellular models [112].

3.1. The Endocannabinoid System in Parkinson's disease

In agreement with the effect of cannabimimetic drugs on motor activity, ~~the~~ different elements of the ECS are ~~very~~ abundant in the basal ganglia [113]. The high density of CB₁ receptors immunoreactivity in these nuclei, except for dopaminergic neurons in the SNpc, supports a role for these receptors in the regulation of basal ganglia physiology and pathology [114]. Activation of presynaptic CB₁ receptors in GABAergic and glutamatergic terminals within basal ganglia leads to presynaptic inhibition of neurotransmitter release [115]. In the striatum, the ECS interacts closely with the dopaminergic system. Activation of postsynaptic dopamine type 2 receptors stimulates AEA release that ~~retrogradely~~ activates CB₁ receptors [in a retrograde manner](#) to down-regulate glutamate neurotransmission [116][117]. ~~Even-Although~~ dopaminergic neurons lack CB₁ receptors, they can ~~become~~ be activated in a CB₁ receptor-dependent manner by reducing their GABAergic input, [thereby](#) favouring dopamine release [118][119]. Cannabinoid receptors and their endogenous ligands are modulated in animal models and patients with PD. CB₁ receptors showed no differential expression in the striatum of 6-OHDA-lesioned rats, but ~~they experienced~~ a significant increase [in the receptor levels was observed](#) in animals treated with L-dopa [120][121]. A transient increase in CB₁ receptor transcripts in the striatum of the 6-OHDA rats, ~~that-which~~ was not accompanied by changes in [³H]WIN-55,212-2 binding or [³⁵S]GTPγS stimulation, was described in the striatum, ~~the~~ GPe, and ~~the~~ SNpr [120][122][123]. [³H]CP-55,940 binding and [³H]WIN-55,212-2 activation of [³⁵S]GTPγS were up-regulated in MPTP-lesioned marmosets and returned to control levels upon L-dopa treatment [124].

Interestingly, an increase in CB₁ receptor expression was detected in the basal ganglia

of parkinsonian monkeys treated with L-dopa exclusively during the active phase of dyskinesia, CB₁ receptor transcripts returned to control levels when MPTP monkeys were ~~off-not administered with~~ L-dopa [125]. Not only receptor activation but also endocannabinoids levels are altered in experimental models of PD. The levels of AEA, but not 2-AG, were increased in the striatum of the 6-OHDA rat [126]. MPTP-lesioned marmosets showed elevated levels of AEA in the striatum and GPe, ~~##and these levels lowered-decreased~~ to control levels with L-dopa therapy. 2-AG was increased in the striatum and substantia nigra (SN) but decreased in the GPe; these changes returned to control levels with acute L-dopa therapy but persisted when LID was present [127]. Changes in the Expression ~~changes-in-the~~ levels of AEA synthesizing/degrading enzymes in the GPe of MPTP monkeys suggest a role for this endocannabinoid as a compensatory mechanism to counteract the dopamine deficit [125]. Changes in the expression of 2-AG synthesizing/degrading enzymes during the active phase of dyskinesia suggests that this endocannabinoid may play a role in LID [125].

~~The s~~Studies carried out with human samples from ~~PD~~-patients with PD are difficult to interpret because patients are under L-dopa treatment, and most of them do not mention the presence of LID. Therefore, it is not possible to determine whether the observed changes are due to the disease itself, due to the dyskinetic status, or due to the chronic dopaminergic therapy. Analysis of CB₁ receptor transcripts in the postmortem tissue from L-dopa-treated ~~PD~~-patients with PD showed a down-regulation restricted to the anterior-dorsal region of the putamen and to the GPe, thus suggesting that their expression might be modulated heterogeneously in the putamen [128]. A similar study showed an up-regulation of CB₁ receptor transcripts in the putamen [129]. The small piece of tissue comprising different regions of the putamen might account for the different observations. The binding of [³H]CP-55,940 was increased in the caudate

nucleus and putamen, and the stimulation of [³⁵S]GTPγS by [³H]WIN-55,212-2 was higher in the caudate nucleus, putamen, GPe, and SN of ~~PD~~-patients with PD [124]. An interesting study measured CB₁ receptor binding *in vivo* by PET in different groups of ~~PD~~-patients with PD using the selective radioligand [¹⁸F]MK-9470 [130]. An increase in CB₁ receptor availability was displayed in the putamen and a decrease in the SN of ~~PD~~ patients with PD with regardspeet to controls. In this case, no regional differences were detected between patients with or without LID [130]. Analysis of AEA levels in the cerebrospinal fluid in ~~PD~~-patients with PD showed that newly diagnosed ~~PD~~-subjects with PD and those undergoing a complete L-dopa washout presented higher AEA levels, that and these levels were restored to control levels in patients under chronic dopaminergic therapy [131]. Therefore, data obtained from ~~PD~~-patients with PD and animal models point towards profound rearrangements of the ECS in the basal ganglia after dopamine depletion and with dopamine replacement therapy.

The presence of CB₂ receptors has been demonstrated in activated microglia of the diseased brain [132], thus suggesting that CB₂ receptors are up-regulated as part of the activation process. Albeit some limitations, there is evidence of CB₂ receptor expression in striatal fibers and in the SN of rats [133], and in the GPe and GPi of primates [134][135]. There is no consensus regarding the cellular localization of CB₂ receptors in the human brain of ~~PD~~-patients with PD. A predominant expression of CB₂ receptors has been reported in activated microglia and ~~in~~-dopaminergic neurons of ~~the~~-SN [136][137]. However, Navarrete et al. (2018) reported a major localization of CB₂ receptors in activated astrocytes [129].

Neuroinflammation is a classical neuropathological hallmark of patients with PD [139][140] and of animal models of the disease. Intrastratial administration of LPS, 6-OHDA, or rotenone induced an increase in CB₂ receptor mRNA levels that correlated

with microglial [cell](#) activation [141][142]. In the acute MPTP mouse model, CB₂ receptor was upregulated in microglial cells of the midbrain but not in the striatum [143]. Similar to these results, CB₂ receptor transcripts were upregulated in ~~the~~ SN and downregulated in the putamen of parkinsonian patients [129].

These data highlight the potential role played by the ECS in PD pathophysiology and LID, and provide an excellent opportunity to develop new therapeutic strategies directed specifically towards different aspects of the disease. Neuronal cannabinoid receptors modulate the main neurotransmitter systems in basal ganglia and offer a target that might influence motor and non-motor symptoms of PD or counteract LID. The ability of CB₂ receptors to modulate the immune response places them as an interesting therapeutic target for neuroprotection.

3.2. Pre-clinical evidence for the therapeutic potential of cannabinoids in PD

Animal studies suggest that cannabinoids improve motor symptoms of PD and LID and that they ~~are~~ exert neuroprotective ~~effects by~~through cannabinoid receptor-dependent and -independent mechanisms. ~~Since~~Because blockade of CB₁ receptors facilitates dopamine type 2 receptor-mediated facilitation of movement [116], CB₁ receptors antagonists would enhance dopaminergic transmission. Furthermore, one of the classical effects of direct activation of CB₁ receptors in rodents is the cannabinoid tetrad, ~~that~~ including catalepsy and hypolocomotion [144], which supports the use of CB₁ receptor antagonists for akinesia. ~~In~~With ~~this~~ regard ~~to this~~, motor behavior in different 6-OHDA rat models was improved by the CB₁ receptor antagonists rimonabant, AM251, and the phytocannabinoid Δ^9 -tetrahydrocannabivarin (Δ^9 -THCV) at low doses [145][146][147]. Rimonabant as monotherapy ameliorated parkinsonian symptoms in MPTP primates and reduced LID without compromising L-dopa efficacy [127],

although a lack of beneficial effect has also been reported in this animal model [148]. Paradoxically, CB₁ receptor agonists improve motor impairment. Administration of either the non-selective cannabinoid receptor agonist CP_55,940 or AM404 to enhance AEA availability into the denervated striatum of 6-OHDA rats had anti-parkinsonian properties [149][150]. Δ⁹-THC had anti-parkinsonian properties in MPTP-lesioned marmosets, although it induced side effects [151]. From a theoretical ~~point of~~ ~~view~~ ~~perspective~~, the anti-parkinsonian effect of both CB₁ receptor activation ~~or~~ ~~and~~ blockade could be explained **depending on which nuclei of the basal ganglia ~~is~~ ~~are~~ being primarily targeted by the treatment** [152]. The different status of the ECS in the basal ganglia under parkinsonian conditions, dose, gender, trial design, or the extent of the dopaminergic lesion might explain the different efficacy of agonists or antagonists [145][146][151]. The specific localization of CB₁ receptors at glutamatergic or GABAergic terminals of neurons in different basal ganglia nuclei [153] and alteration of these pools of receptors under pathological conditions might account for such effects. Promising data arise from pharmacological studies targeting CB₂ receptors. In the 6-OHDA rat model, which has a lower inflammatory response ~~compared to~~ ~~than~~ other PD models, a mild improvement in dopamine levels was detected after the administration of the CB₂ receptor agonist HU-308 [154]. Treatment of the acute MPTP mouse model with WIN_55,212-2 ~~prior~~ ~~before~~ the neurotoxin injection protected dopamine neurons from degeneration in a CB₂ receptor-dependent manner, probably through the inhibition of microglial activation. In fact, all CB₂ receptor knockout mice died after MPTP administration, thus suggesting that they are critical for protection against the neurotoxin [143]. Similar results were obtained with a lower dose of WIN_55,212-2 and with the CB₂ receptor selective agonists JWH-133 and AM1241 [155][156]. Striatal LPS injection induced a mild dopaminergic neurodegeneration and a prominent pro-

inflammatory response. The CB₂ receptor selective agonist, HU-308, and the CB₂ receptor agonist activity of the phytocannabinoid Δ⁹-THCV protected dopaminergic neurons and decreased the expression of the microglial activation markers CD68 and iNOS in the striatum [137][147]. Interestingly, dopamine neurons in the CB₂ receptor knockout mice showed a higher vulnerability to LPS and a higher degree of macrophage infiltration and astrogliosis in the SN [147][137]. In the rotenone rat model, pre-treatment of rats with β-caryophyllene, a phytocannabinoid and selective agonist of CB₂ receptor, prevented neurodegeneration and showed anti-inflammatory and antioxidant properties [157].

Biological actions of endocannabinoids are terminated by enzymatic hydrolysis. In the CNS, the MAGL is the main 2-AG-inactivating enzyme and AEA is hydrolyzed by the FAAH [158][159]. Therefore, rather than direct stimulation of cannabinoid receptors with exogenous ligands, an interesting approach is to increase the levels of the endocannabinoids, 2-AG or AEA, by inhibiting their degradation. MAGL inhibition with JZL184 increased 2-AG levels in the brain, improved motor behavior, and ~~it~~ ~~was~~ ~~exerted~~ neuroprotective effects in the chronic MPTP mouse model [160]. *In vitro* studies showed that the neuroprotective effect of JZL184 was mediated by CB₂ and not by CB₁ receptors [161]. ~~In~~ ~~By~~ contrast, FAAH inhibition with URB597 increased AEA levels in the brain and improved motor behavior, but lacked neuroprotective activity [162]. Both, CB₁ and CB₂ receptors, were involved in the symptomatic relief exerted by URB597, thus suggesting that it was mediated by neuronal CB₂ receptors probably through CB₁/CB₂ receptor heteromers [162]. The efficacy of dopamine type 2 receptor agonists to improve motor behavior was enhanced by the co-administration of URB597 [163].

Phytocannabinoids have cannabinoid receptor-independent anti-parkinsonian properties. Δ^9 -THC and CBD restored dopamine levels in the 6-OHDA rat model in a CB₁ receptor-independent manner [120], presumably by acting through the same mechanisms (e.g., PPAR- γ , Nrf-2 signaling, thus improving mitochondrial function), which and these mechanisms have been described for AD in the previous subsection (see 2.2.4.). However, a lack of neuroprotective activity was described for CBD in the chronic MPTP mouse model [164]. The phytocannabinoid Δ^9 -THCV, with its antioxidant properties and the ability to activate CB₂ and to block CB₁ receptors, presents an interesting pharmacological profile for PD. It protected dopaminergic neurons in the 6-OHDA and in the LPS mice models [147]. An interesting group of cannabinoids are those that bind and activate PPARs [165], a type of intracellular receptors involved in the control of neuroinflammatory responses [166]. AEA is among the lipids that are considered to be an endogenous ligand for PPARs [167]. Some quinone derivatives of cannabigerol (CBG) such as VCE-003.2 act behave as PPAR γ activators and attenuated the loss of dopaminergic neurons in the LPS mouse model by decreasing the inflammatory response [168]. However, VCE-003.2 failed to protect dopaminergic neurons in the 6-OHDA mouse model, probably due to because of the poor inflammatory response of the model [168].

3.3. Clinical evidence for the therapeutic potential of cannabinoids in PD and future perspectives.

Clinical trials to test the beneficial effect of cannabinoids in different aspects of PD do not show consistent results. Nabilone, a non-selective CB₁ receptor and CB₂ receptor agonist, improved LID [169]. Oral administration of a cannabis extract to PD-patients with PD in a randomized, placebo-controlled, crossover study concluded that it did not

produce any pro- or anti-parkinsonian effect [170]. ~~By~~ contrast, an open-label observational study showed that smoked cannabis improved motor symptoms of PD such as bradykinesia, tremor, and rigidity and non-motor symptoms of the disease such as sleep and pain [171]. However, a single dose of smoked marijuana failed to improve tremor, thus suggesting that the anxiolytic action might benefit some ~~tremorous~~ patients with tremor when anxiety is an important triggering factor [172]. A subjective improvement in motor symptoms, namely, bradykinesia, rigidity, and tremor, and alleviation of LID was reported by PD-patients with PD that who smoked cannabis [173]. However, a different study reported that the main benefit was observed in sleep rather than in motor symptoms [174]. A retrospective study collecting subjective impressions of PD-patients with PD under medical cannabis suggests an improvement in the initial stages of treatment without major adverse effects [175]. The different outcome of studies using plant extracts could be related to the administration route, since because cannabinoids are lipid-soluble compounds, hence, oral administration results in lower peak concentrations in plasma than following through inhalation. The Δ^9 -THC content and the Δ^9 -THC:CBD ratio are other parameters that need to be taken into account considered.

These results indicate that targeting the ECS might be useful in the treatment of PD symptoms or dyskinesias. Further clinical studies involving larger samples of patients, placebo groups, appropriate molecular targets, and objective outcome measures are necessary to clarify the effectiveness of cannabinoid-based therapies.

The potential role played by the ECS in PD provides an excellent opportunity to develop new therapeutic strategies aimed at different aspects of the disease. Although an enormous effort has been made in ~~the~~ understanding ~~of~~ the elements of the ECS ~~has been done~~, further studies are necessary to unravel the functional significance of the

system under physiological and pathological conditions. The complex interplay between the main neurotransmitter systems in the basal ganglia and the modulatory role of the ECS, mainly through CB₁ receptors, might provide the base for the development of non-dopaminergic therapies or alleviation of LID. Among the different cannabinoid targets, stimulation of CB₂ receptors, either directly or by increasing endogenous cannabinoids, might offer an interesting disease-modifying alternative and a non-dopaminergic therapy for the disease.

The inconsistent effect of some cannabinoid receptor ligands could be attributed to their functional selectivity to induce specific conformational changes in the receptors modulating different intracellular signaling pathways [176][177]. Furthermore, cannabinoid receptors can form heteromers with other [G-protein-coupled GPCR](#) receptors generating new signaling entities that contribute to the heterogeneity of their responses [178][179]. The use of CB₁ receptor antagonists [has](#) been successfully investigated in preclinical models, but the only clinical trial using rimonabant for the hypokinetic symptoms in PD failed [180]. However, this trial recruited [PD-patients with PD that who were all well-responded, s well](#) to L-dopa, and it is possible that rimonabant could be a better option for those patients [that who](#) do not respond to classic dopaminergic replacement therapy (approximately 30%). While an attempt to directly target CB₁ receptors seems an improbable clinical approach for PD, manipulation of endogenous levels of AEA and 2-AG or compounds targeting different receptors may be a promising strategy. Further research is needed to define ~~the~~ multiple opportunities for manipulating this system in movement disorders.

4. Cannabinoid pharmacology in Huntington's disease

The key clinical symptoms in [Huntington's disease \(HD\)](#) are choreic movements, which are produced by the degeneration of striatal medium-sized spiny neurons projecting to the GPe and SN [181]. The disease is also accompanied by behavioral disturbances and dementia, **which are** caused by the deterioration of specific neurons located in cortical structures [182]. These two neuronal subpopulations are the most vulnerable cells affected in this **genetic pathology**; and the first to deteriorate [181][182][183]. **However,** **the disease may ultimately affects** other neuronal subpopulations in different CNS structures such as the cerebellum [183]. From a molecular [point-of-viewperspective](#), HD is an inherited disorder caused by mutations in the gene encoding the regulatory protein huntingtin. The mutation consists in an excessive number of CAG repeats in the first exon, ~~that~~ [and this](#) leads to a polyglutamine trait in the amino terminal end, [thus](#) causing a variety of anomalies in its cellular function [184]. HD is the most prevalent polyglutamine disorder, which also includes other diseases such as autosomal dominant hereditary ataxias [185]. The key neuropathological feature in HD is the formation of inclusions of the mutant huntingtin, with ubiquitin and other proteins. These inclusion bodies are located predominantly in the cell nucleus producing a transcriptional dysregulation of key genes like *BDNF* [186]. With lower frequency, huntingtin inclusions are also found in the cytosol and in the neurites, [thereby explaining-pointing out](#) the damage observed in mitochondria and ~~in the~~ cytoskeleton, respectively [184]. **The disease can be recapitulated in laboratory animals, including predominantly mice (e.g., R6/1, R6/2, HD94, and YAC128) butand also other vertebrates (e.g., zebrafish) or invertebrates (*Drosophila*, and *Caenorhabditis elegans*) by means of transgenes containing the human mutant huntingtin, and also in cells transfected with these mutant forms. Additional models may be generated by intrastriatal or systemic administration of excitotoxins or mitochondrial toxins (e.g., inhibitors of mitochondrial complex II)**

Con formato: Fuente: Cursiva

(see [187] for a review on experimental models). Pharmacological therapies for HD patients with HD are extremely limited and circumscribed to the treatment of choreic movements. Currently, the only agent licensed is the inhibitor of the vesicular monoamine transporter-1 tetrabenazine (Xenazine®) [188]. Some antioxidants, minocycline, histone deacetylase inhibitors, and unsaturated fatty acids have been or are being investigated at the clinical level [188][189]. Cannabinoids were included in the list of neuroprotective agents investigated for HD early in the 2000s [190], although they had already been investigated as symptom-relieving agents [191]. In both cases, the research reached the clinical scenario [192][193][194][195][196][197].

4.1. The endocannabinoid system in Huntington's disease

Numerous changes in the endocannabinoid elements, affecting mainly CB₁ and CB₂ receptors and the hydrolyzing enzymes, have been described in brain samples from HD patients with HD and animal models. A key observation in *postmortem* tissues derived from HD-patients with HD [198] and in different transgenic animal models [199][200][201][202][203] was the early defects in striatal CB₁ receptor signaling with a progressive loss of these receptors, which was evident even prior-to-before neuronal death and the occurrence of choreic symptoms. An early stimulation of the CB₁ receptors located in striatal projecting neurons dampened their impairment, thus improving their capacity to inhibit the excitotoxic events that initiate the damage and to regulate growth factor generation that promotes striatal neuron survival [204].

Down-regulation of CB₁ receptors might be caused by a loss-of-function of the mutant huntingtin in its capacity to sequester the gene silencing factor REST to the cytoplasm, which facilitates its translocation to the nucleus and the inhibition of different genes including *BDNF* and *Cnr1* [205]. Other studies described equivalent effects exerted

through the inhibition of the ability of [the](#) mutant huntingtin to regulate other transcriptional modulators [such as](#) CREB-binding protein/CREB or NFκB-p65/RelA acting at the promoter ~~for of~~ the CB₁ receptor gene [206]. Despite the relationship between the reduction ~~of in~~ CB₁ receptors and [the](#) mutant huntingtin, an early impairment in CB₁ receptor coupling to G proteins was observed days before the onset of the striatal degeneration in an experimental model generated by neurotoxin administration, the rat lesioned with the irreversible mitochondrial complex II inhibitor 3-nitropropionate [207]. Further studies conducted in R6/2 transgenic mice described that, ~~within the basal ganglia,~~ the loss of CB₁ receptors [within the basal ganglia](#) was evident in striatal projecting neurons, but it was preserved in corticostriatal neurons. The relationship between CB₁ receptor expression and neuronal vulnerability suggests that this receptor pool constitutes a promising target for neuroprotective therapeutic strategies [208][209]. These observations modified the initial idea that the potential benefits of CB₁ receptor activation are restricted at early stages of the disease, and provided the basis for a therapeutic intervention at intermediate and advanced stages of the neurodegenerative process [210][209]. Although this question needs to be investigated, a recent study has demonstrated that the activation of corticostriatal CB₁ receptors protects striatal neurons projecting to the SN, but not those projecting to the GPe, against different insults [211].

The expression of CB₂ receptors is also altered in ~~HD~~-patients [with HD](#) and animal models. In rats lesioned with malonate, a reversible complex II inhibitor applied directly into the striatum [212]; ~~in~~ genetic mouse models, [213][214]; and ~~in~~ *postmortem* tissue from ~~HD~~-patients [with HD](#) [213], CB₂ receptors were overexpressed in activated astrocytes and microglial [cells](#) recruited to the lesioned site [212][213][214]. One study conducted with human HD tissues samples failed to detect CB₂ receptor expression in

astrocytes and microglial cells but located this receptor in endothelial cells [215].

Alteration ~~of~~in cannabinoid receptors in HD shows consistent results ~~with~~among different experimental models, neurotoxin-based or transgenic model, and human samples. The deficit of CB₁ receptors clearly represents an alteration that contributes to HD progression by promoting excitotoxic damage and growth factor deficiency. CB₂ receptor expression increases during the progression of the disease, and it appears to be more of an endogenous protective response.

Endocannabinoids levels were also markedly reduced in the brain in experimental models of HD [216][217]. ~~In~~By contrast, the R6/2 transgenic mouse model presented an increase in FAAH levels [205][218]. Recent studies in patients with HD ~~identi~~fied an increase in endocannabinoid levels in the blood due to a reduction in FAAH activity [219], thus suggesting that changes related to FAAH levels and activity in human patients may be different ~~comparing patients with~~from those in animal models. A reduction in the level of this enzyme in patients with HD may be interpreted as an endogenous protective response to promote elevated AEA levels. The elevation of FAAH levels found in R6/2 mice may be part of the pathogenesis supporting the interest of exploring the possibilities of therapies based on FAAH inhibition for HD [205][218].

4.2. Pre-clinical evidence for the therapeutic potential of cannabinoids in Huntington's disease

The positive results obtained in a broad spectrum of animal models of HD confirmed the benefits of specific cannabinoids against different cytotoxic stimuli reproduced in the experimental models [220][14]. The cannabinoid receptor agonist WIN_55,212,2 protected striatal neurons in a rat model that relies on quinolinate-induced excitotoxic

damage [204]. CB₁ receptor activation with Δ⁹-THC in the genetic model of the disease, R6/2 mice, attenuated striatal neuron loss, whereas striatal degeneration was aggravated in R6/2 mice with a genetic deficiency in CB₁ receptors [205]. The genetic rescue of CB₁ receptors using viral approaches recovered striatal synapses, although it was ineffective for the motor impairment [221]. The genetic ablation of the CB₁ receptor in other HD murine transgenic model or following 3-nitropropionate intoxication yielded equivalent results [222].

Cannabinoids that activate the CB₂ receptors selectively are also effective in HD, acting preferentially on inflammatory events and microglial activation in rats lesioned with malonate [212], in R6/2 mice [213] and following the excitotoxic lesion with quinolinate in mice [213]. The treatment of R6/1 transgenic mice with low doses of the non-selective synthetic agonist WIN_55,212-2 prevented the development of motor deficits and preserved striatal projecting neurons, although the study did not specify whether these effects were CB₁ and/or CB₂ receptor-mediated/dependent [223]. However, administration of the non-selective cannabinoid agonists either HU-210 or Δ⁹-THC to R6/1 mice lacked beneficial effects [224], whereas the FAAH inhibitor URB597 did not restore motor impairment but improved CB₁ striatal expression [224]. Differences in doses or agonists might account for such differences.

Antioxidant non-psychoactive phytocannabinoids CBD and CBG have also been investigated in experimental models of HD, even although their effects are independent of CB₁ and CB₂ receptors. CBD was neuroprotective in rats intoxicated with 3-nitropropionate, a model characterized by mitochondrial damage, oxidative stress, and calpain activation [225]. In contrast, it was inactive in malonate-lesioned rats, a HD model with a pro-inflammatory component [212]. CBG was neuroprotective in the R6/2 and in the 3-nitropropionate-lesioned mice [226]. The effect of CBD and CBG might be

mediated by [the](#) activation of non-endocannabinoid targets such as PPARs or by the other mechanisms indicated before for CBD (see subsection 2.2.4). The quinone derivative of CBG VCE-003.2, which activates PPAR γ improved neuronal survival against the neurotoxicity caused by [the](#) mutant huntingtin and quinolinate *in vitro*, and against quinolinate and 3-nitropropionate *in vivo* [227]. Based on these broad-spectrum effects of cannabinoids in HD in experimental models, a combination of CBD with Δ^9 -THC, as in the cannabinoid-based medicine Sativex®, was studied in animal models of HD [210]. This combination preserved striatal neurons in the neurotoxin-induced models, the malonate-lesioned mouse [228], and the 3-nitropropionate-lesioned rat [229]. In R6/2 mice, only Δ^9 -THC in the form of botanical extract showed a beneficial effect [230].

4.3. Clinical evidence for the therapeutic potential of cannabinoids in Huntington's disease and future perspectives

The first clinical trials with cannabinoids in HD were conducted in the 1990s and examined whether CBD [192][231] or the Δ^9 -THC synthetic analog nabilone [193] may improve choreic movements. However, an aggravation of these movements was reported [192][231][193]. Nabilone was beneficial on chorea and ~~on~~ behavioral disturbances in a case report study [194] and in a pilot clinical study [195]. Recently, a clinical study investigated the effect of different cannabinoid formulations, Sativex®, nabilone, or dronabinol on dystonia, a frequent symptom in HD [232], and patients experienced motor improvements mainly in dystonia and presented less irritability and apathy [197]. These clinical studies conducted with cannabinoids were focused on symptom relief.

As with regards to neuroprotectant effects, the positive results obtained in experimental animals with the combination of CBD and Δ^9 -THC supported to test whether Sativex® may serve as a disease-modifying therapy for HD-patients with HD [196]. The trial was conducted in Spain and was the first trial designed to test a neuroprotective strategy. Although Sativex® was safe and well-tolerated in HD-patients with HD, unfortunately, it failed to provide evidence that it may slow down disease progression in HD [196]. Such failure may be related to the relatively short time, 12 weeks, for the active treatment and an unexpected prolonged placebo effect [196], thus suggesting the need for additional clinical testing using longer periods of treatments.

Therefore, the major challenges for cannabinoid-based therapies in HD are to find the appropriate cannabinoid formulations and to implement clinical trial designs to correlate the benefits observed in the pre-clinical models with a positive effect in HD-patients with HD. A formulation with a single cannabinoid with a broad-spectrum profile might render a positive outcome, but a formulation based on the combination of cannabinoids with different activities would be better. In fact, this was the reason to select Sativex® [196]. To test disease-modifying therapies, a new trial design, using with longer periods for the active treatment *versus* placebo, would be necessary to reveal a neuroprotective effect in HD-patients with HD treated with Sativex® or similar preparations [196].

5. Cannabinoid pharmacology in Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis

Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) is a progressive neurodegenerative disease predominantly affecting the upper and lower motor neurons leading to muscle denervation, atrophy, and paralysis [233]. The most abundant form of the disease is sporadic [234]. Approximately, 20% of patients present a hereditary form of ALS, which is associated with mutations in genes encoding for the key antioxidant enzyme

superoxide dismutase-1 (SOD-1), and the proteins involved in pre-mRNA splicing, transport, and stability of TAR-DNA-binding protein-43 (TDP-43) or FUS (fused in sarcoma) protein [233][235]. More recently, a CCGGGG hexanucleotide expansion was described in the *C9orf72* gene, which represents most of the cases of familial ALS [236]. It encodes a protein involved in intracellular trafficking in neurons, and other cell functions not completely understood [237]. Familial and sporadic forms of ALS are clinically and histopathologically indistinguishable, sharing pathogenic events and therapeutic intervention. In the case of some ALS-related genes, *TARDBP* (encoding TDP-43), *FUS*, or *C9orf72*, the disease can be accompanied by features of frontotemporal dementia (FTD), which supports the idea that, rather than being one disorder, ALS belongs to a broad spectrum of disorders ranging from motor to cognitive deficits [238]. As in other neurodegenerative disorders, the damage of upper and lower motor neurons occurs by the combination of excitotoxicity, chronic inflammation, oxidative stress, protein aggregation, and other cytotoxic events [239][240][235]. A characteristic feature in ALS pathogenesis is the extreme vulnerability of the axonal transport of proteins or cell organelles due to their excessive axonal length of motor neurons [241]. Experimental models for the study of ALS include predominantly transgenic mice overexpressing mutated forms of the different ALS-related genes (e.g., *SOD-1*, *TARDBP*, and *C9orf72*) [242]. The disease still lacks an effective treatment for symptoms and/or disease progression. For a long time, the antiexcitotoxic agent riluzole (Rilutek®) was the only approved drug [243]. More recently, the antioxidant agent edavarone (Radicava®) and the tyrosine kinase inhibitor masitinib [244] have been approved (or designed as orphan drugs) for the treatment of ALS patients with ALS. Solid evidence derived from studies describing the changes in specific elements of the ECS in the spinal cord, brainstem, and motor cortex, the CNS areas more affected in

ALS-patients [with ALS](#) and in animal models, placed cannabinoids as a possible and [promising-potential](#) disease-modifying therapy in ALS [245][246].

5.1. The endocannabinoid system in Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis

The levels of [the](#) endocannabinoids AEA and 2-AG are elevated in the spinal cord of SOD-1 mutant mice [247][248]. [This was paralleled by an increase in the expression of NAPE-PLD, but no changes were observed in DAGL- nor in FAAH and MAGL](#) [249]. [The](#) ~~increased~~ [2-AG](#)-levels [of 2-AG](#) in the spinal cord of these mice [have](#) been interpreted as an endogenous protective response, [fuelling](#) the idea that inhibiting endocannabinoid-~~inactivating~~ enzymes may be neuroprotective in ALS [250]. CB₂ receptors experienced an important up-regulatory response in the spinal cord of SOD-1 mutant [251][249], TDP-43 transgenic [252] mice, in an ALS-related canine neurodegenerative pathology [253] and in [ALS](#)-patients [with ALS](#) [254][255]. This up-regulation appears to occur predominantly in astrocytes recruited at lesioned sites in mutant SOD-1 mice (unpublished results), dogs with degenerative myelopathy [253], and *postmortem* primary motor cortex samples from [ALS](#)-patients [with ALS](#) [255]. CB₂ receptor expression was up-regulated in activated microglia in spinal grey and white matter areas in TDP-43 transgenic mice [252] and in *postmortem* spinal cord samples from [ALS](#)-patients [with ALS](#) [254]. -These observations suggest that beneficial effects may be obtained by selectively targeting this receptor in the control of astrocyte support or microglial toxicity for motor neurons. Changes in the expression of CB₁ receptors in animal models are inconclusive. A study reported down-regulatory responses in the spinal cord of SOD-1 mutant mice, even at early pre-symptomatic phases [256], [thus](#) suggesting that it may predispose motor neurons to excitotoxic events, but these observations were not validated in the same mutant mice [249]. No changes in CB₁

receptors expression were reported in the TDP-43 transgenic mice [252]. In the spinal cord of ~~ALS~~ patients with ALS, CB₁ receptors appear to be reduced [257].

5.2. Pre-clinical and clinical evidence for the therapeutic potential of cannabinoids in Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis

Most ~~of~~ pharmacological studies on the ~~with~~use of cannabinoids in experimental ALS were conducted in the classic transgenic mouse that overexpresses a mutated form (G93A) of SOD-1 despite **mutations in this enzyme** ~~only~~ representings only a small percentage of ALS cases. The model was developed in the 1990s and was used to investigate the neuroprotective effects of **Δ^9 -THC** [258], cannabinol (**CBN**) [259], WIN 55,212-2 [248], and the selective CB₂ agonist AM1241 [260][251], in all cases with beneficial effects. Similar findings were obtained from double mutants generated by crossing mutant SOD-1 mice with mice deficient in endocannabinoid genes; FAAH or CB₁ knockout mice [248]. These results ~~not only~~ reinforced not only the interest in ~~of~~using CB₁ receptor agonists, but also the elevation of endocannabinoid levels with FAAH inhibitors. Inhibition of MAGL in the same mutant SOD-1 mouse model delayed disease onset and progression, and improved animal survival, probably through the reduction in pro-inflammatory cytokines and the elevation of BDNF in the spinal cord [250]. These effects were also reproduced *in vitro* [250]. Recent studies have extended the cannabinoid pharmacology to the new transgenic mouse model of TDP-43 (A315T). Activation of CB₂ receptors improved motor behavior, preserved spinal motor neurons, and attenuated glial reactivity [261]. CB₁ receptor activation also decreased glial reactivity but to a lower extent [261].

Clinical evidence for the use of cannabinoids in ALS is scarce. The first studies were exclusively observational, based on subjective impressions of ~~ALS~~ patients with ALS

[who](#) self-medicated with cannabis, and [the results](#) suggested a mild improvement for different symptoms [262]. A randomized, double-blind, crossover trial conducted with oral Δ^9 -THC [showed that](#), although [the drug](#) ~~it~~ was well tolerated [in patients](#), it failed to decrease the frequency and intensity of cramps [263][264]. No clinical studies have ~~tried~~ [been attempted](#) to investigate the potential of cannabinoids as disease-modifying therapies. There is an urgent need for additional clinical investigations in ALS, and cannabinoids might represent an interesting therapeutic approach [245].

5.3. Therapeutic implications for a cannabinoid-based therapy for Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis

~~The~~ [Research](#) in cannabinoid-based neuroprotective therapies in ALS has been circumscribed to the pre-clinical level supporting the relevance of CB₂ receptor activation on astrocyte trophic support, microglial reactivity, and neuroinflammation. It also involves certain CB₁ receptor-mediated effects that might contribute to attenuate excitotoxic damage [265]. Cannabinoids with antioxidant properties (e.g., Δ^9 -THC, CBN) ~~that have~~ [exerting](#) a cannabinoid receptor-independent mechanism of action (perhaps related to PPAR- γ signaling) offer ~~an~~ interesting therapeutic alternative, but pre-clinical studies are needed before reaching the clinic [265]. In this context, the potential of a Sativex-like combination of botanical extracts enriched in Δ^9 -THC and CBD was investigated in post-symptomatic SOD-1 mutant mice [249]. However, this combination provided a poor neurological recovery and no changes in animal survival [249], [thus](#) suggesting the need for additional cannabinoid combinations that demonstrate to be effective in preclinical models and that may be translated to the clinical scenario.

6. Conclusions and future perspectives

Cannabinoids are compounds with a broad spectrum of effects, which makes them suitable to target the multiple pathological features that characterize neurodegenerative diseases (Fig. 2). ~~Currently, compounds with multiple targets or combinations of cannabinoids with different activities are being investigated.~~ Pre-clinical studies provide evidence to support the potential of cannabinoid pharmacology for the treatment of these conditions. Each neurodegenerative disease has specific alterations of the ECS, that will provide specific substrates for a cannabinoid-based therapy. ~~In~~With this regard ~~to this~~, an interesting experimental therapy for AD would be a 1:1 combination of Δ^9 -THC:CBD because of the synergy existing between the mechanisms of action ~~of~~for each natural cannabinoid. The administration of both compounds was more effective than each single cannabinoid in reducing the cognitive decline and certain pathological processes. Moreover, available clinical data about the chronic use of a combination of Δ^9 -THC and CBD for other indications suggest that it might result in a safe and well-tolerated treatment for AD ~~patients~~ with AD ~~with~~and a virtual absence of the side effects commonly associated with the psychotropic properties of Δ^9 -THC ~~due~~owing to the capacity of CBD to counteract them. Interesting pre-clinical alternatives for the treatment of PD would be targeting CB₂ receptors, as well as the modulation of endocannabinoid levels through the inhibition of their catabolic enzymes MAGL, which is neuroprotective, and FAAH. The phytocannabinoid Δ^9 -THCV with its particular profile has emerged as a valuable alternative, ~~that~~which needs to be further ~~explored~~investigated. ~~On the basis of~~ ~~en~~of the promising data on experimental models of HD, activation of CB₁ and CB₂ receptors would be the targets of choice for cannabinoid-based therapies, whereas cannabinoids targeting both receptors and also PPAR γ would be the best option in ALS. ~~Different strategies have been tested, directly~~

targeting cannabinoid receptors with agonists or antagonists, or indirect modulation of the endocannabinoid signaling with inhibitors of endocannabinoid degradation or activation of cannabinoid receptor independent effects. In fact, further research is needed to ~~explore~~investigate one of the most interesting aspects of cannabinoid pharmacology, their neuroprotective profile, probably ~~due~~owing to their pleiotropic activity. The profound rearrangements ~~suffered~~experienced by the ECS during the time course of neurodegenerative diseases are specific for each disease and may vary through the different stages of the degenerative process. ~~Since~~Because ECS changes are not homogeneous along the disease course and affect neuronal subsets differentially, ~~the~~ similar therapeutic effects might be observed with drugs producing opposing actions or the same compound might produce both, thus amelioration or worsening of symptoms. An additional level of complexity is attributed to the functional selectivity of cannabinoids [177]. Different receptor agonists induce specific changes in receptor conformation, thereby activating different signaling pathways. Therefore, each class of cannabinoid receptor ligand needs to be evaluated separately for therapeutic efficacy. An important consideration that ~~has not been~~requires an in-depth~~by~~exploredinvestigation is the ability of cannabinoid receptors to form heteromers with other receptors generating unique signaling units that cannot be achieved by the individual receptors [153]. These heteromers contribute to the heterogeneity of cannabinoid receptor signaling and provide novel pharmacological targets. PPAR γ is one of the most relevant targets for CBD and other cannabinoids and a key element ~~in~~for their exerting anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective properties [68]. The recent formulation of CBD as Epidiolex® (GW Pharmaceuticals, UK), which was approved by the Food and Drug Administration~~agency~~ for the treatment of infantile refractory

epileptic syndromes, may facilitate ~~the~~ use of this cannabinoid in clinical trials for neurodegenerative disorders.

Consequently, further research is needed to identify the precise formulation for each ~~type of~~ pathology, ~~and~~ each subset of patients ~~and as well as for~~ ~~to~~-achieving a neuroprotective effect. New clinical studies involving larger samples of patients, placebo groups, appropriate molecular targets, and objective outcome measures are necessary to clarify the effectiveness of cannabinoid-based therapies.

Acknowledgments

MA and MAA are supported by the grant PI17/01931 from the Spanish Government (ISCIII-FEDER). JR and RT are supported by Ministerio de Economía y Competitividad (SAF2016/75959-R) and Universidad Francisco de Vitoria (UFV2017). JFR and JAR are supported by grants from CIBERNED (CB06/05/0089), MINECO (SAF2015-68580-C2-1-R), GW Pharmaceuticals, and VivaCell-Emerald.

Declaration of authors' competing interests

The Authors declare they have not ~~any~~ potential conflict of interest in relation ~~with~~ this submission.

References

- [1] S. Saxena, P. Caroni, Selective Neuronal Vulnerability in Neurodegenerative Diseases: from Stressor Thresholds to Degeneration, *Neuron*. 71 (2011) 35–48. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2011.06.031.
- [2] C. López-Otín, M.A. Blasco, L. Partridge, M. Serrano, G. Kroemer, The Hallmarks of Aging, *Cell*. 153 (2013) 1194–1217. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2013.05.039.
- [3] J. Cummings, Disease modification and Neuroprotection in neurodegenerative disorders, *Transl. Neurodegener.* 6 (2017) 25. doi:10.1186/s40035-017-0096-2.
- [4] G.G. Kovacs, H. Adle-Biassette, I. Milenkovic, S. Cipriani, J. van Scheppingen, E. Aronica, Linking pathways in the developing and aging brain with neurodegeneration, *Neuroscience*. 269 (2014) 152–172. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2014.03.045.
- [5] V. Di Marzo, N. Stella, A. Zimmer, Endocannabinoid signalling and the deteriorating brain., *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 16 (2015) 30–42. doi:10.1038/nrn3876.
- [6] J. Fernández-Ruiz, The biomedical challenge of neurodegenerative disorders: an opportunity for cannabinoid-based therapies to improve on the poor current therapeutic outcomes., *Br. J. Pharmacol.* (2018). doi:10.1111/bph.14382.
- [7] P. Pacher, The Endocannabinoid System as an Emerging Target of Pharmacotherapy, *Pharmacol. Rev.* 58 (2006) 389–462. doi:10.1124/pr.58.3.2.
- [8] G.S. Bloom, Amyloid- β and Tau, *JAMA Neurol.* 71 (2014) 505. doi:10.1001/jamaneurol.2013.5847.
- [9] Y. Li, Establishment of experimental models for Alzheimer’s disease research, *Int. J. Neurosci.* 123 (2013) 823–831. doi:10.3109/00207454.2013.804821.
- [10] I. Ferrer, Defining Alzheimer as a common age-related neurodegenerative process not inevitably leading to dementia., *Prog. Neurobiol.* 97 (2012) 38–51. doi:10.1016/j.pneurobio.2012.03.005.
- [11] D.J. Selkoe, Preventing Alzheimer’s disease., *Science*. 337 (2012) 1488–92. doi:10.1126/science.1228541.
- [12] R. Howard, R. McShane, J. Lindesay, C. Ritchie, A. Baldwin, R. Barber, A. Burns, T. Dening, D. Findlay, C. Holmes, A. Hughes, R. Jacoby, R. Jones, R. Jones, I. McKeith, A. Macharouthu, J. O’Brien, P. Passmore, B. Sheehan, E. Juszczak, C. Katona, R. Hills, M. Knapp, C. Ballard, R. Brown, S. Banerjee, C. Onions, M. Griffin, J. Adams, R. Gray, T. Johnson, P. Bentham, P. Phillips, Donepezil and Memantine for Moderate-to-Severe Alzheimer’s Disease, *N. Engl. J. Med.* 366 (2012) 893–903. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1106668.
- [13] K. Hensley, Neuroinflammation in Alzheimer’s disease: mechanisms, pathologic consequences, and potential for therapeutic manipulation., *J. Alzheimers. Dis.* 21 (2010) 1–14. doi:10.3233/JAD-2010-1414.
- [14] J. Fernández-Ruiz, J. Romero, J.A. Ramos, Endocannabinoids and Neurodegenerative Disorders: Parkinson’s Disease, Huntington’s Chorea, Alzheimer’s Disease, and Others, in: *Handb. Exp. Pharmacol.*, 2015: pp. 233–259. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-20825-1_8.
- [15] T.M. Westlake, A.C. Howlett, T.I. Bonner, L.A. Matsuda, M. Herkenham, Cannabinoid receptor binding and messenger RNA expression in human brain: an in vitro receptor autoradiography and in situ hybridization histochemistry study of normal aged and Alzheimer’s brains., *Neuroscience*. 63 (1994) 637–52.
- [16] J.H. Lee, G. Agacinski, J.H. Williams, G.K. Wilcock, M.M. Esiri, P.T. Francis, P.T.-H. Wong, C.P. Chen, M.K.P. Lai, Intact cannabinoid CB1 receptors in the Alzheimer’s disease cortex., *Neurochem. Int.* 57 (2010) 985–9.

- doi:10.1016/j.neuint.2010.10.010.
- [17] R. Ahmad, K. Goffin, J. Van den Stock, F.-L. De Winter, E. Cleeren, G. Bormans, J. Tournoy, P. Persoons, K. Van Laere, M. Vandenbulcke, In vivo type 1 cannabinoid receptor availability in Alzheimer's disease., *Eur. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 24 (2014) 242–50. doi:10.1016/j.euroneuro.2013.10.002.
- [18] I. Manuel, E. González de San Román, M.T. Giralt, I. Ferrer, R. Rodríguez-Puertas, Type-1 cannabinoid receptor activity during Alzheimer's disease progression., *J. Alzheimers. Dis.* 42 (2014) 761–6. doi:10.3233/JAD-140492.
- [19] N. Maroof, S. Ravipati, M.C. Pardon, D.A. Barrett, D.A. Kendall, Reductions in endocannabinoid levels and enhanced coupling of cannabinoid receptors in the striatum are accompanied by cognitive impairments in the A β PP^{swe}/PS1 Δ E9 mouse model of Alzheimer's disease., *J. Alzheimers. Dis.* 42 (2014) 227–45. doi:10.3233/JAD-131961.
- [20] A. Llorente-Ovejero, I. Manuel, M.T. Giralt, R. Rodríguez-Puertas, Increase in cortical endocannabinoid signaling in a rat model of basal forebrain cholinergic dysfunction., *Neuroscience.* 362 (2017) 206–218. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2017.08.008.
- [21] E. Kärkkäinen, H. Tanila, J.T. Laitinen, Functional autoradiography shows unaltered cannabinoid CB1 receptor signalling in hippocampus and cortex of APP/PS1 transgenic mice., *CNS Neurol. Disord. Drug Targets.* 11 (2012) 1038–44.
- [22] C. Benito, E. Núñez, R.M. Tolón, E.J. Carrier, A. Rábano, C.J. Hillard, J. Romero, Cannabinoid CB 2 Receptors and Fatty Acid Amide Hydrolase Are Selectively Overexpressed in Neuritic Plaque-Associated Glia in Alzheimer ' s Disease Brains, *J. Neurosci.* 23 (2003) 11136–11141.
- [23] B.K. Atwood, K. Mackie, CB2: a cannabinoid receptor with an identity crisis, *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 160 (2010) 467–479. doi:10.1111/j.1476-5381.2010.00729.x.
- [24] B.G. Ramírez, C. Blázquez, T. Gómez del Pulgar, M. Guzmán, M.L. de Ceballos, Prevention of Alzheimer's disease pathology by cannabinoids: neuroprotection mediated by blockade of microglial activation., *J. Neurosci.* 25 (2005) 1904–13. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4540-04.2005.
- [25] A. V Savonenko, T. Melnikova, Y. Wang, H. Ravert, Y. Gao, J. Koppel, D. Lee, O. Pletnikova, E. Cho, N. Sayyida, A. Hiatt, J. Troncoso, P. Davies, R.F. Dannals, M.G. Pomper, A.G. Horti, Cannabinoid CB2 Receptors in a Mouse Model of A β Amyloidosis: Immunohistochemical Analysis and Suitability as a PET Biomarker of Neuroinflammation., *PLoS One.* 10 (2015) e0129618. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0129618.
- [26] R. Ahmad, A. Postnov, G. Bormans, J. Versijpt, M. Vandenbulcke, K. Van Laere, Decreased in vivo availability of the cannabinoid type 2 receptor in Alzheimer's disease, *Eur. J. Nucl. Med. Mol. Imaging.* 43 (2016) 2219–2227. doi:10.1007/s00259-016-3457-7.
- [27] R.J. López A., Aparicio N., Pazos M.R., Grande T., Barreda-Manso M.A., Benito-Cuesta I., Vázquez C., Amores M., Ruiz-Pérez G., García-García E., Beatka M., Tolon R.M., Dittel B.N., Hillard C.J., Cannabinoid CB2 receptors in mouse brain: relevance for Alzheimer's disease, *J. Neuroinflammation.* 15 (2018) 158.
- [28] R. Chen, J. Zhang, N. Fan, Z.-Q. Teng, Y. Wu, H. Yang, Y.-P. Tang, H. Sun, Y. Song, C. Chen, Δ 9-THC-caused synaptic and memory impairments are mediated through COX-2 signaling., *Cell.* 155 (2013) 1154–1165. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2013.10.042.

- [29] C. Vázquez, R.M. Tolón, M.T. Grande, M. Caraza, M. Moreno, E.C. Koester, B. Villaescusa, L. Ruiz-Valdepeñas, F.J. Fernández-Sánchez, B.F. Cravatt, C.J. Hillard, J. Romero, Endocannabinoid regulation of amyloid-induced neuroinflammation., *Neurobiol. Aging*. 36 (2015) 3008–3019. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2015.08.003.
- [30] K.-M. Jung, G. Astarita, S. Yasar, V. Vasilevko, D.H. Cribbs, E. Head, C.W. Cotman, D. Piomelli, An amyloid β 42-dependent deficit in anandamide mobilization is associated with cognitive dysfunction in Alzheimer's disease., *Neurobiol. Aging*. 33 (2012) 1522–32. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2011.03.012.
- [31] J. Mulder, M. Zilberter, S.J. Pasquaré, A. Alpár, G. Schulte, S.G. Ferreira, A. Köfalvi, A.M. Martín-Moreno, E. Keimpema, H. Tanila, M. Watanabe, K. Mackie, T. Hortobágyi, M.L. de Ceballos, T. Harkany, Molecular reorganization of endocannabinoid signalling in Alzheimer's disease, *Brain*. 134 (2011) 1041–1060. doi:10.1093/brain/awr046.
- [32] J. Koppel, H. Bradshaw, T.E. Goldberg, H. Khalili, P. Marambaud, M.J. Walker, M. Pazos, M.L. Gordon, E. Christen, P. Davies, Endocannabinoids in Alzheimer's disease and their impact on normative cognitive performance: a case-control and cohort study., *Lipids Health Dis*. 8 (2009) 2. doi:10.1186/1476-511X-8-2.
- [33] C. Altamura, M. Ventriglia, M.G. Martini, D. Montesano, Y. Errante, F. Piscitelli, F. Scrascia, C. Quattrocchi, P. Palazzo, S. Seccia, F. Vernieri, V. Di Marzo, Elevation of Plasma 2-Arachidonoylglycerol Levels in Alzheimer's Disease Patients as a Potential Protective Mechanism against Neurodegenerative Decline., *J. Alzheimers. Dis*. 46 (2015) 497–506. doi:10.3233/JAD-142349.
- [34] C. D'Addario, A. Di Francesco, B. Arosio, C. Gussago, B. Dell'Osso, M. Bari, D. Galimberti, E. Scarpini, A.C. Altamura, D. Mari, M. Maccarrone, Epigenetic regulation of fatty acid amide hydrolase in Alzheimer disease., *PLoS One*. 7 (2012) e39186. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0039186.
- [35] N.G.N. Milton, Anandamide and noladin ether prevent neurotoxicity of the human amyloid-beta peptide., *Neurosci. Lett*. 332 (2002) 127–30.
- [36] X. Chen, J. Zhang, C. Chen, Endocannabinoid 2-arachidonoylglycerol protects neurons against β -amyloid insults., *Neuroscience*. 178 (2011) 159–68. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2011.01.024.
- [37] B.S. Harvey, K.S. Ohlsson, J.L. V Mååg, I.F. Musgrave, S.D. Smid, Contrasting protective effects of cannabinoids against oxidative stress and amyloid- β evoked neurotoxicity in vitro., *Neurotoxicology*. 33 (2012) 138–46. doi:10.1016/j.neuro.2011.12.015.
- [38] E. Janefjord, J.L. V Mååg, B.S. Harvey, S.D. Smid, Cannabinoid effects on β amyloid fibril and aggregate formation, neuronal and microglial-activated neurotoxicity in vitro., *Cell. Mol. Neurobiol*. 34 (2014) 31–42. doi:10.1007/s10571-013-9984-x.
- [39] T. Iuvone, G. Esposito, R. Esposito, R. Santamaria, M. Di Rosa, A.A. Izzo, Neuroprotective effect of cannabidiol, a non-psychoactive component from *Cannabis sativa*, on beta-amyloid-induced toxicity in PC12 cells, *J. Neurochem*. 89 (2004) 134–141. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2003.02327.x.
- [40] E. Aso, E. Palomer, S. Juvés, R. Maldonado, F.J. Muñoz, I. Ferrer, CB1 agonist ACEA protects neurons and reduces the cognitive impairment of A β PP/PS1 mice., *J. Alzheimers. Dis*. 30 (2012) 439–59. doi:10.3233/JAD-2012-111862.
- [41] C. Cao, Y. Li, H. Liu, G. Bai, J. Mayl, X. Lin, K. Sutherland, N. Nabar, J. Cai, The potential therapeutic effects of THC on Alzheimer's disease., *J. Alzheimers.*

- Dis. 42 (2014) 973–84. doi:10.3233/JAD-140093.
- [42] M. van der Stelt, C. Mazzola, G. Esposito, I. Matias, S. Petrosino, D. De Filippis, V. Micale, L. Steardo, F. Drago, T. Iuvone, V. Di Marzo, Endocannabinoids and beta-amyloid-induced neurotoxicity in vivo: effect of pharmacological elevation of endocannabinoid levels., *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 63 (2006) 1410–24. doi:10.1007/s00018-006-6037-3.
- [43] M. Haghani, M. Shabani, M. Javan, F. Motamedi, M. Janahmadi, CB1 cannabinoid receptor activation rescues amyloid β -induced alterations in behaviour and intrinsic electrophysiological properties of rat hippocampal CA1 pyramidal neurones., *Cell. Physiol. Biochem.* 29 (2012) 391–406. doi:10.1159/000338494.
- [44] R.-S. Zhang, Z. He, W.-D. Jin, R. Wang, Effects of the cannabinoid 1 receptor peptide ligands hemopressin, (m)RVD-hemopressin(α) and (m)VD-hemopressin(α) on memory in novel object and object location recognition tasks in normal young and A β 1-42-treated mice., *Neurobiol. Learn. Mem.* 134 Pt B (2016) 264–74. doi:10.1016/j.nlm.2016.07.030.
- [45] J. Wu, B. Bie, H. Yang, J.J. Xu, D.L. Brown, M. Naguib, Activation of the CB2 receptor system reverses amyloid-induced memory deficiency., *Neurobiol. Aging.* 34 (2013) 791–804. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2012.06.011.
- [46] A.M. Martín-Moreno, D. Reigada, B.G. Ramírez, R. Mechoulam, N. Innamorato, A. Cuadrado, M.L. de Ceballos, Cannabidiol and other cannabinoids reduce microglial activation in vitro and in vivo: relevance to Alzheimer's disease., *Mol. Pharmacol.* 79 (2011) 964–73. doi:10.1124/mol.111.071290.
- [47] G. Fakhfouri, A. Ahmadiani, R. Rahimian, A.A. Grolla, F. Moradi, A. Haeri, WIN55212-2 attenuates amyloid-beta-induced neuroinflammation in rats through activation of cannabinoid receptors and PPAR- γ pathway, *Neuropharmacology.* 63 (2012) 653–666. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2012.05.013.
- [48] A.M. Martín-Moreno, B. Brera, C. Spuch, E. Carro, L. García-García, M. Delgado, M.A. Pozo, N.G. Innamorato, A. Cuadrado, M.L. de Ceballos, Prolonged oral cannabinoid administration prevents neuroinflammation, lowers β -amyloid levels and improves cognitive performance in Tg APP 2576 mice., *J. Neuroinflammation.* 9 (2012) 8. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-9-8.
- [49] E. Aso, S. Juvés, R. Maldonado, I. Ferrer, CB2 cannabinoid receptor agonist ameliorates Alzheimer-like phenotype in A β PP/PS1 mice., *J. Alzheimers. Dis.* 35 (2013) 847–58. doi:10.3233/JAD-130137.
- [50] D. Cheng, A.S. Spiro, A.M. Jenner, B. Garner, T. Karl, Long-term cannabidiol treatment prevents the development of social recognition memory deficits in Alzheimer's disease transgenic mice., *J. Alzheimers. Dis.* 42 (2014) 1383–96. doi:10.3233/JAD-140921.
- [51] D. Cheng, J.K. Low, W. Logge, B. Garner, T. Karl, Chronic cannabidiol treatment improves social and object recognition in double transgenic APP^{swe}/PS1 Δ E9 mice., *Psychopharmacology (Berl).* 231 (2014) 3009–17. doi:10.1007/s00213-014-3478-5.
- [52] E. Aso, A. Sánchez-Pla, E. Vegas-Lozano, R. Maldonado, I. Ferrer, Cannabis-based medicine reduces multiple pathological processes in A β PP/PS1 mice., *J. Alzheimers. Dis.* 43 (2015) 977–91. doi:10.3233/JAD-141014.
- [53] E. Aso, P. Andrés-Benito, I. Ferrer, Delineating the Efficacy of a Cannabis-Based Medicine at Advanced Stages of Dementia in a Murine Model., *J. Alzheimers. Dis.* 54 (2016) 903–912. doi:10.3233/JAD-160533.
- [54] C. Scuderi, L. Steardo, G. Esposito, Cannabidiol promotes amyloid precursor

- protein ubiquitination and reduction of beta amyloid expression in SHSY5YAPP+ cells through PPAR γ involvement., *Phytother. Res.* 28 (2014) 1007–13. doi:10.1002/ptr.5095.
- [55] R.M. Tolón, E. Núñez, M.R. Pazos, C. Benito, A.I. Castillo, J.A. Martínez-Orgado, J. Romero, The activation of cannabinoid CB2 receptors stimulates in situ and in vitro beta-amyloid removal by human macrophages., *Brain Res.* 1283 (2009) 148–54. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2009.05.098.
- [56] C. Bachmeier, D. Beaulieu-Abdelahad, M. Mullan, D. Paris, Role of the cannabinoid system in the transit of beta-amyloid across the blood-brain barrier., *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 56 (2013) 255–62. doi:10.1016/j.mcn.2013.06.004.
- [57] J. Wu, M. Hocevar, J.F. Foss, B. Bie, M. Naguib, Activation of CB2 receptor system restores cognitive capacity and hippocampal Sox2 expression in a transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease., *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 811 (2017) 12–20. doi:10.1016/j.ejphar.2017.05.044.
- [58] J.R. Piro, D.I. Benjamin, J.M. Duerr, Y. Pi, C. Gonzales, K.M. Wood, J.W. Schwartz, D.K. Nomura, T.A. Samad, A dysregulated endocannabinoid-eicosanoid network supports pathogenesis in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease., *Cell Rep.* 1 (2012) 617–23. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2012.05.001.
- [59] J. Koppel, V. Vingtdoux, P. Marambaud, C. d'Abramo, H. Jimenez, M. Stauber, R. Friedman, P. Davies, CB2 receptor deficiency increases amyloid pathology and alters tau processing in a transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease., *Mol. Med.* 20 (2014) 29–36. doi:10.2119/molmed.2013.00140.revised.
- [60] A.-C. Schmöle, R. Lundt, S. Ternes, Ö. Albayram, T. Ulas, J.L. Schultze, D. Bano, P. Nicotera, J. Alferink, A. Zimmer, Cannabinoid receptor 2 deficiency results in reduced neuroinflammation in an Alzheimer's disease mouse model., *Neurobiol. Aging.* 36 (2015) 710–9. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2014.09.019.
- [61] E. Aso, P. Andrés-Benito, M. Carmona, R. Maldonado, I. Ferrer, Cannabinoid Receptor 2 Participates in Amyloid- β Processing in a Mouse Model of Alzheimer's Disease but Plays a Minor Role in the Therapeutic Properties of a Cannabis-Based Medicine., *J. Alzheimers. Dis.* 51 (2016) 489–500. doi:10.3233/JAD-150913.
- [62] B. Chen, K. Bromley-Brits, G. He, F. Cai, X. Zhang, W. Song, Effect of synthetic cannabinoid HU210 on memory deficits and neuropathology in Alzheimer's disease mouse model., *Curr. Alzheimer Res.* 7 (2010) 255–61.
- [63] C. Stumm, C. Hiebel, R. Hanstein, M. Purrio, H. Nagel, A. Conrad, B. Lutz, C. Behl, A.B. Clement, Cannabinoid receptor 1 deficiency in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease leads to enhanced cognitive impairment despite of a reduction in amyloid deposition., *Neurobiol. Aging.* 34 (2013) 2574–84. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2013.05.027.
- [64] F.I. Aso E, Andrés-Benito P, Genetic deletion of CB1 cannabinoid receptors exacerbates the Alzheimer-like symptoms in a transgenic animal model, *Biochem Pharmacol.* In press (2018).
- [65] M. Maccarrone, A. Totaro, A. Leuti, G. Giacobazzo, L. Scipioni, D. Mango, R. Coccorello, R. Nisticò, S. Oddi, Early alteration of distribution and activity of hippocampal type-1 cannabinoid receptor in Alzheimer's disease-like mice overexpressing the human mutant amyloid precursor protein., *Pharmacol. Res.* 130 (2018) 366–373. doi:10.1016/j.phrs.2018.02.009.
- [66] G. Esposito, D. De Filippis, R. Carnuccio, A.A. Izzo, T. Iuvone, The marijuana component cannabidiol inhibits beta-amyloid-induced tau protein hyperphosphorylation through Wnt/beta-catenin pathway rescue in PC12 cells., *J.*

- Mol. Med. (Berl). 84 (2006) 253–8. doi:10.1007/s00109-005-0025-1.
- [67] G. Esposito, D. De Filippis, L. Steardo, C. Scuderi, C. Savani, V. Cuomo, T. Iuvone, CB1 receptor selective activation inhibits beta-amyloid-induced iNOS protein expression in C6 cells and subsequently blunts tau protein hyperphosphorylation in co-cultured neurons., *Neurosci. Lett.* 404 (2006) 342–6. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2006.06.012.
- [68] J. Fernández-Ruiz, O. Sagredo, M.R. Pazos, C. García, R. Pertwee, R. Mechoulam, J. Martínez-Orgado, Cannabidiol for neurodegenerative disorders: important new clinical applications for this phytocannabinoid?, *Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* 75 (2013) 323–33. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2125.2012.04341.x.
- [69] A. Straiker, M. Dvorakova, A. Zimmowitch, K. Mackie, Cannabidiol Inhibits Endocannabinoid Signaling in Autaptic Hippocampal Neurons., *Mol. Pharmacol.* 94 (2018) 743–748. doi:10.1124/mol.118.111864.
- [70] M.J. Casarejos, J. Perucho, A. Gomez, M.P. Muñoz, M. Fernandez-Estevez, O. Sagredo, J. Fernandez Ruiz, M. Guzman, J.G. de Yebenes, M.A. Mena, Natural cannabinoids improve dopamine neurotransmission and tau and amyloid pathology in a mouse model of tauopathy., *J. Alzheimers. Dis.* 35 (2013) 525–39. doi:10.3233/JAD-130050.
- [71] Y. Cheng, Z. Dong, S. Liu, β -Caryophyllene ameliorates the Alzheimer-like phenotype in APP/PS1 Mice through CB2 receptor activation and the PPAR γ pathway., *Pharmacology.* 94 (2014) 1–12. doi:10.1159/000362689.
- [72] E. Aso, I. Ferrer, CB2 Cannabinoid Receptor As Potential Target against Alzheimer's Disease, *Front. Neurosci.* 10 (2016) 243. doi:10.3389/fnins.2016.00243.
- [73] T. Cassano, S. Calcagnini, L. Pace, F. De Marco, A. Romano, S. Gaetani, Cannabinoid Receptor 2 Signaling in Neurodegenerative Disorders: From Pathogenesis to a Promising Therapeutic Target, *Front. Neurosci.* 11 (2017) 30. doi:10.3389/fnins.2017.00030.
- [74] J. Zhang, C. Chen, Alleviation of Neuropathology by Inhibition of Monoacylglycerol Lipase in APP Transgenic Mice Lacking CB2 Receptors., *Mol. Neurobiol.* 55 (2018) 4802–4810. doi:10.1007/s12035-017-0689-x.
- [75] R. Chen, J. Zhang, Y. Wu, D. Wang, G. Feng, Y.-P. Tang, Z. Teng, C. Chen, Monoacylglycerol Lipase Is a Therapeutic Target for Alzheimer's Disease, *Cell Rep.* 2 (2012) 1329–1339. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2012.09.030.
- [76] D.K. Nomura, B.E. Morrison, J.L. Blankman, J.Z. Long, S.G. Kinsey, M.C.G. Marcondes, A.M. Ward, Y.K. Hahn, A.H. Lichtman, B. Conti, B.F. Cravatt, Endocannabinoid Hydrolysis Generates Brain Prostaglandins That Promote Neuroinflammation, *Science* (80-.). 334 (2011) 809–813. doi:10.1126/science.1209200.
- [77] N. Murphy, T.R. Cowley, C.W. Blau, C.N. Dempsey, J. Noonan, A. Gowran, R. Tanveer, W.M. O'Lang, D.P. Finn, V.A. Campbell, M.A. Lynch, The fatty acid amide hydrolase inhibitor URB597 exerts anti-inflammatory effects in hippocampus of aged rats and restores an age-related deficit in long-term potentiation., *J. Neuroinflammation.* 9 (2012) 79. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-9-79.
- [78] A. Rampa, M. Bartolini, A. Bisi, F. Belluti, S. Gobbi, V. Andrisano, A. Ligresti, V. Di Marzo, The First Dual ChE/FAAH Inhibitors: New Perspectives for Alzheimer's Disease?, *ACS Med. Chem. Lett.* 3 (2012) 182–186. doi:10.1021/ml200313p.
- [79] S. Montanari, L. Scalvini, M. Bartolini, F. Belluti, S. Gobbi, V. Andrisano, A. Ligresti, V. Di Marzo, S. Rivara, M. Mor, A. Bisi, A. Rampa, Fatty Acid Amide

- Hydrolase (FAAH), Acetylcholinesterase (AChE), and Butyrylcholinesterase (BuChE): Networked Targets for the Development of Carbamates as Potential Anti-Alzheimer's Disease Agents., *J. Med. Chem.* 59 (2016) 6387–406. doi:10.1021/acs.jmedchem.6b00609.
- [80] X. Wang, W. Wang, L. Li, G. Perry, H. Lee, X. Zhu, Oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunction in Alzheimer's disease, *Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Mol. Basis Dis.* 1842 (2014) 1240–1247. doi:10.1016/j.bbadis.2013.10.015.
- [81] H.P. Lee, X. Zhu, G. Casadesus, R.J. Castellani, A. Nunomura, M.A. Smith, H. Lee, G. Perry, Antioxidant approaches for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease, *Expert Rev. Neurother.* 10 (2010) 1201–1208. doi:10.1586/ern.10.74.
- [82] G. Esposito, C. Scuderi, M. Valenza, G.I. Togna, V. Latina, D. De Filippis, M. Cipriano, M.R. Carratù, T. Iuvone, L. Steardo, Cannabidiol reduces A β -induced neuroinflammation and promotes hippocampal neurogenesis through PPAR γ involvement., *PLoS One.* 6 (2011) e28668. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0028668.
- [83] E. Martínez-Pinilla, K. Varani, I. Reyes-Resina, E. Angelats, F. Vincenzi, C. Ferreiro-Vera, J. Oyarzabal, E.I. Canela, J.L. Lanciego, X. Nadal, G. Navarro, P.A. Borea, R. Franco, Binding and Signaling Studies Disclose a Potential Allosteric Site for Cannabidiol in Cannabinoid CB2 Receptors., *Front. Pharmacol.* 8 (2017) 744. doi:10.3389/fphar.2017.00744.
- [84] S. Sun, F. Hu, J. Wu, S. Zhang, Cannabidiol attenuates OGD/R-induced damage by enhancing mitochondrial bioenergetics and modulating glucose metabolism via pentose-phosphate pathway in hippocampal neurons., *Redox Biol.* 11 (2017) 577–585. doi:10.1016/j.redox.2016.12.029.
- [85] S.S. Valvassori, D. V Bavaresco, G. Scaini, R.B. Varela, E.L. Streck, M.H. Chagas, J.E.C. Hallak, A.W. Zuardi, J.A. Crippa, J. Quevedo, Acute and chronic administration of cannabidiol increases mitochondrial complex and creatine kinase activity in the rat brain., *Rev. Bras. Psiquiatr.* 35 (2013) 380–6. doi:10.1590/1516-4446-2012-0886.
- [86] V.K. da Silva, B.S. de Freitas, A. da Silva Dornelles, L.R. Nery, L. Falavigna, R.D.P. Ferreira, M.R. Bogo, J.E.C. Hallak, A.W. Zuardi, J.A.S. Crippa, N. Schröder, Cannabidiol normalizes caspase 3, synaptophysin, and mitochondrial fission protein DNMI1L expression levels in rats with brain iron overload: implications for neuroprotection., *Mol. Neurobiol.* 49 (2014) 222–33. doi:10.1007/s12035-013-8514-7.
- [87] N. Singh, J. Hroudová, Z. Fišar, Cannabinoid-Induced Changes in the Activity of Electron Transport Chain Complexes of Brain Mitochondria., *J. Mol. Neurosci.* 56 (2015) 926–931. doi:10.1007/s12031-015-0545-2.
- [88] Z. Fišar, N. Singh, J. Hroudová, Cannabinoid-induced changes in respiration of brain mitochondria., *Toxicol. Lett.* 231 (2014) 62–71. doi:10.1016/j.toxlet.2014.09.002.
- [89] L.M. Eubanks, C.J. Rogers, A.E. Beuscher, G.F. Koob, A.J. Olson, T.J. Dickerson, K.D. Janda, A molecular link between the active component of marijuana and Alzheimer's disease pathology., *Mol. Pharm.* 3 (2006) 773–7. doi:10.1021/mp060066m.
- [90] P. González-Naranjo, N. Pérez-Macias, N.E. Campillo, C. Pérez, V.J. Arán, R. Girón, E. Sánchez-Robles, M.I. Martín, M. Gómez-Cañas, M. García-Arencibia, J. Fernández-Ruiz, J.A. Páez, Cannabinoid agonists showing BuChE inhibition as potential therapeutic agents for Alzheimer's disease., *Eur. J. Med. Chem.* 73 (2014) 56–72. doi:10.1016/j.ejmech.2013.11.026.
- [91] J.J. Feigenbaum, F. Bergmann, S.A. Richmond, R. Mechoulam, V. Nadler, Y.

- Kloog, M. Sokolovsky, Nonpsychotropic cannabinoid acts as a functional N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor blocker., *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 86 (1989) 9584–7.
- [92] V. Nadler, R. Mechoulam, M. Sokolovsky, The non-psychotropic cannabinoid (+)-(3S,4S)-7-hydroxy-delta 6-tetrahydrocannabinol 1,1-dimethylheptyl (HU-211) attenuates N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor-mediated neurotoxicity in primary cultures of rat forebrain., *Neurosci. Lett.* 162 (1993) 43–5.
- [93] N. Eshhar, S. Striem, A. Biegon, HU-211, a non-psychotropic cannabinoid, rescues cortical neurones from excitatory amino acid toxicity in culture., *Neuroreport.* 5 (1993) 237–40.
- [94] G. Marsicano, S. Goodenough, K. Monory, H. Hermann, M. Eder, A. Cannich, S.C. Azad, M.G. Cascio, S.O. Gutiérrez, M. van der Stelt, M.L. López-Rodríguez, E. Casanova, G. Schütz, W. Zieglgänsberger, V. Di Marzo, C. Behl, B. Lutz, CB1 cannabinoid receptors and on-demand defense against excitotoxicity., *Science.* 302 (2003) 84–8. doi:10.1126/science.1088208.
- [95] K. Mackie, B. Hille, Cannabinoids inhibit N-type calcium channels in neuroblastoma-glioma cells., *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 89 (1992) 3825–9.
- [96] W. Twitchell, S. Brown, K. Mackie, Cannabinoids inhibit N- and P/Q-type calcium channels in cultured rat hippocampal neurons., *J. Neurophysiol.* 78 (1997) 43–50. doi:10.1152/jn.1997.78.1.43.
- [97] S.-Y. Zhuang, D. Bridges, E. Grigorenko, S. McCloud, A. Boon, R.E. Hampson, S.A. Deadwyler, Cannabinoids produce neuroprotection by reducing intracellular calcium release from ryanodine-sensitive stores., *Neuropharmacology.* 48 (2005) 1086–96. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2005.01.005.
- [98] J. Noonan, R. Tanveer, A. Klompas, A. Gowran, J. McKiernan, V.A. Campbell, Endocannabinoids prevent β -amyloid-mediated lysosomal destabilization in cultured neurons., *J. Biol. Chem.* 285 (2010) 38543–54. doi:10.1074/jbc.M110.162040.
- [99] R. Tanveer, A. Gowran, J. Noonan, S.E. Keating, A.G. Bowie, V.A. Campbell, The endocannabinoid, anandamide, augments Notch-1 signaling in cultured cortical neurons exposed to amyloid- β and in the cortex of aged rats., *J. Biol. Chem.* 287 (2012) 34709–21. doi:10.1074/jbc.M112.350678.
- [100] J. Navarro-Dorado, N. Villalba, D. Prieto, B. Brera, A.M. Martín-Moreno, T. Tejerina, M.L. de Ceballos, Vascular Dysfunction in a Transgenic Model of Alzheimer's Disease: Effects of CB1R and CB2R Cannabinoid Agonists., *Front. Neurosci.* 10 (2016) 422. doi:10.3389/fnins.2016.00422.
- [101] A. Köfalvi, C. Lemos, A.M. Martín-Moreno, B.S. Pinheiro, L. García-García, M.A. Pozo, Â. Valério-Fernandes, R.O. Bezeza, P. Agostinho, R.J. Rodrigues, S.J. Pasquaré, R.A. Cunha, M.L. de Ceballos, Stimulation of brain glucose uptake by cannabinoid CB2 receptors and its therapeutic potential in Alzheimer's disease., *Neuropharmacology.* 110 (2016) 519–529. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2016.03.015.
- [102] L. Volicer, M. Stelly, J. Morris, J. McLaughlin, B.J. Volicer, Effects of dronabinol on anorexia and disturbed behavior in patients with Alzheimer's disease., *Int. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry.* 12 (1997) 913–9.
- [103] S. Walther, R. Mahlberg, U. Eichmann, D. Kunz, Delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol for nighttime agitation in severe dementia., *Psychopharmacology (Berl).* 185 (2006) 524–8. doi:10.1007/s00213-006-0343-1.
- [104] M.J. Passmore, The cannabinoid receptor agonist nabilone for the treatment of dementia-related agitation., *Int. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry.* 23 (2008) 116–7.

- doi:10.1002/gps.1828.
- [105] G.A.H. van den Elsen, A.I.A. Ahmed, R.-J. Verkes, C. Kramers, T. Feuth, P.B. Rosenberg, M.A. van der Marck, M.G.M. Olde Rikkert, Tetrahydrocannabinol for neuropsychiatric symptoms in dementia: A randomized controlled trial, *Neurology*. 84 (2015) 2338–2346. doi:10.1212/WNL.0000000000001675.
- [106] G.A.H. van den Elsen, A.I.A. Ahmed, R.-J. Verkes, T. Feuth, M.A. van der Marck, M.G.M. Olde Rikkert, Tetrahydrocannabinol in Behavioral Disturbances in Dementia: A Crossover Randomized Controlled Trial., *Am. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry*. 23 (2015) 1214–1224. doi:10.1016/j.jagp.2015.07.011.
- [107] G.A. van den Elsen, L. Tobben, A.I. Ahmed, R.J. Verkes, C. Kramers, R.M. Marijnissen, M.G. Olde Rikkert, M.A. van der Marck, Effects of tetrahydrocannabinol on balance and gait in patients with dementia: A randomised controlled crossover trial., *J. Psychopharmacol.* 31 (2017) 184–191. doi:10.1177/0269881116665357.
- [108] S. Krishnan, R. Cairns, R. Howard, Cannabinoids for the treatment of dementia, *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.* (2009) CD007204. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD007204.pub2.
- [109] L.M.L. de Lau, P.C.L.M. Giesbergen, M.C. de Rijk, A. Hofman, P.J. Koudstaal, M.M.B. Breteler, Incidence of parkinsonism and Parkinson disease in a general population: the Rotterdam Study., *Neurology*. 63 (2004) 1240–4.
- [110] G.C. Cotzias, M.H. Van Woert, L.M. Schiffer, Aromatic Amino Acids and Modification of Parkinsonism, *N. Engl. J. Med.* 276 (1967) 374–379. doi:10.1056/NEJM196702162760703.
- [111] M.F. Bastide, W.G. Meissner, B. Picconi, S. Fasano, P.-O. Fernagut, M. Feyder, V. Francardo, C. Alcacer, Y. Ding, R. Brambilla, G. Fisone, A. Jon Stoessl, M. Bourdenx, M. Engeln, S. Navailles, P. De Deurwaerdère, W.K.D. Ko, N. Simola, M. Morelli, L. Groc, M.-C. Rodriguez, E. V. Gurevich, M. Quik, M. Morari, M. Mellone, F. Gardoni, E. Tronci, D. Guehl, F. Tison, A.R. Crossman, U.J. Kang, K. Steece-Collier, S. Fox, M. Carta, M. Angela Cenci, E. Bézard, Pathophysiology of L-dopa-induced motor and non-motor complications in Parkinson's disease, *Prog. Neurobiol.* 132 (2015) 96–168. doi:10.1016/j.pneurobio.2015.07.002.
- [112] W. Le, P. Sayana, J. Jankovic, Animal Models of Parkinson's Disease: A Gateway to Therapeutics?, *Neurotherapeutics*. 11 (2014) 92–110. doi:10.1007/s13311-013-0234-1.
- [113] M.C. Sañudo-Peña, K. Tsou, J.M. Walker, Motor actions of cannabinoids in the basal ganglia output nuclei., *Life Sci.* 65 (1999) 703–13.
- [114] K. Tsou, S. Brown, M. Sañudo-Peña, K. Mackie, J. Walker, Immunohistochemical distribution of cannabinoid CB1 receptors in the rat central nervous system, *Neuroscience*. 83 (1998) 393–411. doi:10.1016/S0306-4522(97)00436-3.
- [115] V. Pisani, G. Madeo, A. Tassone, G. Sciamanna, M. Maccarrone, P. Stanzione, A. Pisani, Homeostatic changes of the endocannabinoid system in Parkinson's disease, *Mov Disord.* 26 (2010) 216–222. doi:10.1002/mds.23457.
- [116] A. Giuffrida, L.H. Parsons, T.M. Kerr, F. Rodriguez de Fonseca, M. Navarro, D. Piomelli, Dopamine activation of endogenous cannabinoid signaling in dorsal striatum, *Nat Neurosci.* 2 (1999) 358–363. doi:10.1038/7268.
- [117] H.H. Yin, D.M. Lovinger, Frequency-specific and D2 receptor-mediated inhibition of glutamate release by retrograde endocannabinoid signaling, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 103 (2006) 8251–8256. doi:10.1073/pnas.0510797103.

Con formato: Español (España)

- [118] M. Melis, G.L. Gessa, M. Diana, Different mechanisms for dopaminergic excitation induced by opiates and cannabinoids in the rat midbrain., *Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry*. 24 (2000) 993–1006.
- [119] J.F. Cheer, K.M. Wassum, M.L.A. V Heien, P.E.M. Phillips, R.M. Wightman, Cannabinoids Enhance Subsecond Dopamine Release in the Nucleus Accumbens of Awake Rats, *J. Neurosci*. 24 (2004) 4393–4400. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0529-04.2004.
- [120] I. Lastres-Becker, F. Molina-Holgado, J.A. Ramos, R. Mechoulam, J. Fernández-Ruiz, Cannabinoids provide neuroprotection against 6-hydroxydopamine toxicity in vivo and in vitro: relevance to Parkinson's disease., *Neurobiol. Dis.* 19 (2005) 96–107. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2004.11.009.
- [121] B.Y. Zeng, B. Dass, A. Owen, S. Rose, C. Cannizzaro, B.C. Tel, P. Jenner, Chronic L-DOPA treatment increases striatal cannabinoid CB1 receptor mRNA expression in 6-hydroxydopamine-lesioned rats., *Neurosci. Lett.* 276 (1999) 71–4.
- [122] J. Romero, F. Berrendero, A. Pérez-Rosado, J. Manzanares, A. Rojo, J.J. Fernández-Ruiz, J.G. de Yebenes, J.A. Ramos, Unilateral 6-hydroxydopamine lesions of nigrostriatal dopaminergic neurons increased CB1 receptor mRNA levels in the caudate-putamen., *Life Sci.* 66 (2000) 485–94.
- [123] S. Walsh, K. Mnich, K. Mackie, A.M. Gorman, D.P. Finn, E. Dowd, Loss of cannabinoid CB1 receptor expression in the 6-hydroxydopamine-induced nigrostriatal terminal lesion model of Parkinson's disease in the rat, *Brain Res Bull.* 81 (2010) 543–548. doi:S0361-9230(10)00028-6 [pii]10.1016/j.brainresbull.2010.01.009.
- [124] I. Lastres-Becker, M. Cebeira, M.L. de Ceballos, B.Y. Zeng, P. Jenner, J.A. Ramos, J.J. Fernandez-Ruiz, Increased cannabinoid CB1 receptor binding and activation of GTP-binding proteins in the basal ganglia of patients with Parkinson's syndrome and of MPTP-treated marmosets, *Eur J Neurosci.* 14 (2001) 1827–1832. doi:1812 [pii].
- [125] E. Rojo-Bustamante, M.A. Abellanas, P. Clavero, M.-L. Thiolat, Q. Li, M.R. Luquin, E. Bezar, M.S. Aymerich, The expression of cannabinoid type 1 receptor and 2-arachidonoyl glycerol synthesizing/degrading enzymes is altered in basal ganglia during the active phase of levodopa-induced dyskinesia, *Neurobiol. Dis.* 118 (2018) 64–75. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2018.06.019.
- [126] P. Gubellini, B. Picconi, M. Bari, N. Battista, P. Calabresi, D. Centonze, G. Bernardi, A. Finazzi-Agro, M. Maccarrone, Experimental parkinsonism alters endocannabinoid degradation: implications for striatal glutamatergic transmission, *J Neurosci.* 22 (2002) 6900–6907. doi:2002673222/16/6900 [pii].
- [127] M. van der Stelt, S.H. Fox, M. Hill, A.R. Crossman, S. Petrosino, V. Di Marzo, J.M. Brotchie, A role for endocannabinoids in the generation of parkinsonism and levodopa-induced dyskinesia in MPTP-lesioned non-human primate models of Parkinson's disease, *FASEB J.* 19 (2005) 1140–1142. doi:10.1096/fj.04-3010fje.
- [128] M.J. Hurley, D.C. Mash, P. Jenner, Expression of cannabinoid CB 1 receptor mRNA in basal ganglia of normal and parkinsonian human brain, *J Neural Transm.* 110 (2003) 1279–1288. doi:10.1007/s00702-003-0033-7.
- [129] F. Navarrete, M.S. García-Gutiérrez, A. Aracil-Fernández, J.L. Lanciego, J. Manzanares, Cannabinoid CB1 and CB2 Receptors, and Monoacylglycerol Lipase Gene Expression Alterations in the Basal Ganglia of Patients with Parkinson's Disease, *Neurotherapeutics.* (2018) 1–11. doi:10.1007/s13311-018-0603-x.

- [130] K. Van Laere, C. Casteels, S. Lunskens, K. Goffin, I.D. Grachev, G. Bormans, W. Vandenberghe, Regional changes in type 1 cannabinoid receptor availability in Parkinson's disease in vivo, *NBA*. 33 (2012) 620.e1-620.e8. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2011.02.009.
- [131] V. Pisani, V. Moschella, M. Bari, F. Fezza, S. Galati, G. Bernardi, P. Stanzione, A. Pisani, M. Maccarrone, Dynamic changes of anandamide in the cerebrospinal fluid of Parkinson's disease patients, *Mov Disord*. 25 (2010) 920–924. doi:10.1002/mds.23014.
- [132] N. Stella, P. Schweitzer, D. Piomelli, A second endogenous cannabinoid that modulates long-term potentiation., *Nature*. 388 (1997) 773–8. doi:10.1038/42015.
- [133] J.-P. Gong, E.S. Onaivi, H. Ishiguro, Q.-R. Liu, P.A. Tagliaferro, A. Brusco, G.R. Uhl, Cannabinoid CB2 receptors: Immunohistochemical localization in rat brain, *Brain Res*. 1071 (2006) 10–23. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2005.11.035.
- [134] J.L. Lanciego, P. Barroso-Chinea, A.J. Rico, L. Conte-Perales, L. Callén, E. Roda, V. Gómez-Bautista, I.P. López, C. Lluís, J.L. Labandeira-García, R. Franco, Expression of the mRNA coding the cannabinoid receptor 2 in the pallidal complex of *Macaca fascicularis*., *J. Psychopharmacol*. 25 (2011) 97–104. doi:10.1177/0269881110367732.
- [135] S. Sierra, N. Luquin, A.J. Rico, V. Gómez-Bautista, E. Roda, I.G. Dopeso-Reyes, A. Vázquez, E. Martínez-Pinilla, J.L. Labandeira-García, R. Franco, J.L. Lanciego, Detection of cannabinoid receptors CB1 and CB2 within basal ganglia output neurons in macaques: changes following experimental parkinsonism, *Brain Struct. Funct*. 220 (2015) 2721–2738. doi:10.1007/s00429-014-0823-8.
- [136] M.C. García, V. Cinquina, C. Palomo-Garo, A. Rábano, J. Fernández-Ruiz, Identification of CB2 receptors in human nigral neurons that degenerate in Parkinson's disease, *Neurosci. Lett*. 587 (2015) 1–4. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2014.12.003.
- [137] Y. Gómez-Gálvez, C. Palomo-Garo, J. Fernández-Ruiz, C. García, Potential of the cannabinoid CB(2) receptor as a pharmacological target against inflammation in Parkinson's disease., *Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry*. 64 (2016) 200–8. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2015.03.017.
- [138] F. Navarrete, M.S. García-Gutiérrez, A. Aracil-Fernández, J.L. Lanciego, J. Manzanares, Cannabinoid CB1 and CB2 Receptors, and Monoacylglycerol Lipase Gene Expression Alterations in the Basal Ganglia of Patients with Parkinson's Disease, *Neurotherapeutics*. (2018). doi:10.1007/s13311-018-0603-x.
- [139] P.L. McGeer, S. Itagaki, B.E. Boyes, E.G. McGeer, Reactive microglia are positive for HLA-DR in the substantia nigra of Parkinson's and Alzheimer's disease brains., *Neurology*. 38 (1988) 1285–91.
- [140] H. Braak, M. Sastre, K. Del Tredici, Development of alpha-synuclein immunoreactive astrocytes in the forebrain parallels stages of intraneuronal pathology in sporadic Parkinson's disease., *Acta Neuropathol*. 114 (2007) 231–41. doi:10.1007/s00401-007-0244-3.
- [141] R.M. Concannon, B.N. Okine, D.P. Finn, E. Dowd, Differential upregulation of the cannabinoid CB(2) receptor in neurotoxic and inflammation-driven rat models of Parkinson's disease., *Exp. Neurol*. 269 (2015) 133–141. doi:10.1016/j.expneurol.2015.04.007.
- [142] R.M. Concannon, B.N. Okine, D.P. Finn, E. Dowd, Upregulation of the cannabinoid CB2 receptor in environmental and viral inflammation-driven rat models of Parkinson's disease., *Exp. Neurol*. 283 (2016) 204–212. doi:10.1016/j.expneurol.2016.06.014.

- [143] D.A. Price, A.A. Martinez, A. Seillier, W. Koek, Y. Acosta, E. Fernandez, R. Strong, B. Lutz, G. Marsicano, J.L. Roberts, A. Giuffrida, WIN55,212-2, a cannabinoid receptor agonist, protects against nigrostriatal cell loss in the 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine mouse model of Parkinson's disease, *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 29 (2009) 2177–2186. doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2009.06764.x.
- [144] E. Fride, A. Perchuk, F.S. Hall, G.R. Uhl, E.S. Onaivi, Behavioral methods in cannabinoid research., *Methods Mol. Med.* 123 (2006) 269–90.
- [145] E. Fernandez-Espejo, I. Caraballo, F.R. de Fonseca, F. El Banoua, B. Ferrer, J.A. Flores, B. Galan-Rodriguez, Cannabinoid CB1 antagonists possess antiparkinsonian efficacy only in rats with very severe nigral lesion in experimental parkinsonism, *Neurobiol Dis.* 18 (2005) 591–601. doi:S0969-9961(04)00267-0 [pii]10.1016/j.nbd.2004.10.015.
- [146] S. González, C. Scorticati, M. García-Arencibia, R. de Miguel, J.A. Ramos, J. Fernández-Ruiz, Effects of rimonabant, a selective cannabinoid CB1 receptor antagonist, in a rat model of Parkinson's disease., *Brain Res.* 1073–1074 (2006) 209–19. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2005.12.014.
- [147] C. Garcia, C. Palomo-Garo, M. Garcia-Arencibia, J. Ramos, R. Pertwee, J. Fernandez-Ruiz, Symptom-relieving and neuroprotective effects of the phytocannabinoid Delta(9)-THCV in animal models of Parkinson's disease, *Br J Pharmacol.* 163 (2011) 1495–1506. doi:10.1111/j.1476-5381.2011.01278.x.
- [148] J.P. Meschler, A.C. Howlett, B.K. Madras, Cannabinoid receptor agonist and antagonist effects on motor function in normal and 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,5,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP)-treated non-human primates, *Psychopharmacol.* 156 (2001) 79–85.
- [149] M.C. Sañudo-Peña, S.L. Patrick, S. Khen, R.L. Patrick, K. Tsou, J.M. Walker, Cannabinoid effects in basal ganglia in a rat model of Parkinson's disease., *Neurosci. Lett.* 248 (1998) 171–4.
- [150] E. Fernandez-Espejo, I. Caraballo, F. Rodriguez de Fonseca, B. Ferrer, F. El Banoua, J.A. Flores, B. Galan-Rodriguez, Experimental Parkinsonism Alters Anandamide Precursor Synthesis and Functional Deficits are Improved by AM404: A Modulator of Endocannabinoid Function, *Neuropsychopharmacology.* 29 (2004) 1134–1142. doi:10.1038/sj.npp.1300407.
- [151] S.A.M. van Vliet, R.A.P. Vanwersch, M.J. Jongsma, B. Olivier, I.H.C.H.M. Philippens, Therapeutic effects of Δ9-THC and modafinil in a marmoset Parkinson model, *Eur. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 18 (2008) 383–389. doi:10.1016/j.euroneuro.2007.11.003.
- [152] J.M. Brotchie, CB1 cannabinoid receptor signalling in Parkinson's disease., *Curr. Opin. Pharmacol.* 3 (2003) 54–61.
- [153] A. Cordomí, G. Navarro, M.S. Aymerich, R. Franco, Structures for G-Protein-Coupled Receptor Tetramers in Complex with G Proteins, *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 40 (2015) 548–551. doi:10.1016/j.tibs.2015.07.007.
- [154] M. Garcia-Arencibia, S. Gonzalez, E. de Lago, J.A. Ramos, R. Mechoulam, J. Fernandez-Ruiz, Evaluation of the neuroprotective effect of cannabinoids in a rat model of Parkinson's disease: importance of antioxidant and cannabinoid receptor-independent properties., *Brain Res.* 1134 (2007) 162–170. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2006.11.063.
- [155] Y.C. Chung, W.-H. Shin, J.Y. Baek, E.J. Cho, H.H. Baik, S.R. Kim, S.-Y. Won, B.K. Jin, CB2 receptor activation prevents glial-derived neurotoxic mediator production, BBB leakage and peripheral immune cell infiltration and rescues dopamine neurons in the MPTP model of Parkinson's disease., *Exp. Mol. Med.*

- 48 (2016) e205. doi:10.1038/emm.2015.100.
- [156] J. Shi, Q. Cai, J. Zhang, X. He, Y. Liu, R. Zhu, L. Jin, AM1241 alleviates MPTP-induced Parkinson's disease and promotes the regeneration of DA neurons in PD mice., *Oncotarget*. 8 (2017) 67837–67850. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.18871.
- [157] H. Javed, S. Azimullah, M.E. Haque, S.K. Ojha, Cannabinoid Type 2 (CB2) Receptors Activation Protects against Oxidative Stress and Neuroinflammation Associated Dopaminergic Neurodegeneration in Rotenone Model of Parkinson's Disease., *Front. Neurosci.* 10 (2016) 321. doi:10.3389/fnins.2016.00321.
- [158] T.P. Dinh, D. Carpenter, F.M. Leslie, T.F. Freund, I. Katona, S.L. Sensi, S. Kathuria, D. Piomelli, Brain monoglyceride lipase participating in endocannabinoid inactivation, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* 99 (2002) 10819–10824. doi:10.1073/pnas.152334899152334899 [pii].
- [159] B.F. Cravatt, D.K. Giang, S.P. Mayfield, D.L. Boger, R.A. Lerner, N.B. Gilula, Molecular characterization of an enzyme that degrades neuromodulatory fatty-acid amides, *Nature*. 384 (1996) 83–87. doi:10.1038/384083a0.
- [160] D. Fernández-Suárez, M. Celorrio, J.I. Riezu-Boj, A. Ugarte, R. Pacheco, H. González, J. Oyarzabal, C.J. Hillard, R. Franco, M.S. Aymerich, The monoacylglycerol lipase inhibitor JZL184 is neuroprotective and alters glial cell phenotype in the chronic MPTP mouse model, *Neurobiol. Aging*. 35 (2014) 2603–2616. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2014.05.021.
- [161] M.S. Aymerich, E. Rojo-Bustamante, C. Molina, M. Celorrio, J.A. Sánchez-Arias, R. Franco, Neuroprotective Effect of JZL184 in MPP+-Treated SH-SY5Y Cells Through CB2 Receptors, *Mol. Neurobiol.* 53 (2016) 2312–2319. doi:10.1007/s12035-015-9213-3.
- [162] M. Celorrio, D. Fernández-Suárez, E. Rojo-Bustamante, V. Echeverry-Alzate, M.J. Ramírez, C.J. Hillard, J.A. López-Moreno, R. Maldonado, J. Oyarzábal, R. Franco, M.S. Aymerich, Fatty acid amide hydrolase inhibition for the symptomatic relief of Parkinson's disease., *Brain. Behav. Immun.* (2016). doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2016.06.010.
- [163] A.C. Kreitzer, R.C. Malenka, Endocannabinoid-mediated rescue of striatal LTD and motor deficits in Parkinson's disease models, *Nature*. 445 (2007) 643–647. doi:nature05506 [pii]10.1038/nature05506.
- [164] M. Celorrio, E. Rojo-Bustamante, D. Fernández-Suárez, E. Sáez, A. Estella-Hermoso de Mendoza, C.E. Müller, M.J. Ramírez, J. Oyarzábal, R. Franco, M.S. Aymerich, GPR55: A therapeutic target for Parkinson's disease?, *Neuropharmacology*. 125 (2017) 319–332. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2017.08.017.
- [165] S.E. O'Sullivan, Cannabinoids go nuclear: evidence for activation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors., *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 152 (2007) 576–82. doi:10.1038/sj.bjp.0707423.
- [166] S. Agarwal, A. Yadav, R.K. Chaturvedi, Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors (PPARs) as therapeutic target in neurodegenerative disorders, *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 483 (2017) 1166–1177. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2016.08.043.
- [167] M. Pistis, M. Melis, From surface to nuclear receptors: the endocannabinoid family extends its assets., *Curr. Med. Chem.* 17 (2010) 1450–67.
- [168] C. García, M. Gómez-Cañas, S. Burgaz, B. Palomares, Y. Gómez-Gálvez, C. Palomo-Garo, S. Campo, J. Ferrer-Hernández, C. Pavicic, C. Navarrete, M. Luz Bellido, M. García-Arencibia, M. Ruth Pazos, E. Muñoz, J. Fernández-Ruiz, Benefits of VCE-003.2, a cannabigerol quinone derivative, against inflammation-driven neuronal deterioration in experimental Parkinson's disease: possible

- involvement of different binding sites at the PPAR γ receptor, *J. Neuroinflammation*. 15 (2018) 19. doi:10.1186/s12974-018-1060-5.
- [169] K.A. Sieradzan, S.H. Fox, M. Hill, J.P. Dick, A.R. Crossman, J.M. Brotchie, Cannabinoids reduce levodopa-induced dyskinesia in Parkinson's disease: a pilot study., *Neurology*. 57 (2001) 2108–11. doi:10.1212/WNL.57.11.2108.
- [170] C.B. Carroll, P.G. Bain, L. Teare, X. Liu, C. Joint, C. Wroath, S.G. Parkin, P. Fox, D. Wright, J. Hobart, J.P. Zajicek, Cannabis for dyskinesia in Parkinson disease: a randomized double-blind crossover study, *Neurology*. 63 (2004) 1245–1250. doi:63/7/1245 [pii].
- [171] I. Lotan, T.A. Treves, Y. Roditi, R. Djaldetti, Cannabis (medical marijuana) treatment for motor and non-motor symptoms of Parkinson disease: an open-label observational study, *Clin Neuropharmacol*. 37 (2014) 41–44. doi:10.1097/WNF.000000000000016.
- [172] J.P. Frankel, A. Hughes, A.J. Lees, G.M. Stern, Marijuana for parkinsonian tremor., *J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry*. 53 (1990) 436.
- [173] K. Venderová, E. Růžicka, V. Vorisek, P. Visnovský, Survey on cannabis use in Parkinson's disease: subjective improvement of motor symptoms., *Mov. Disord*. 19 (2004) 1102–6. doi:10.1002/mds.20111.
- [174] T.A. Finseth, J.L. Hedeman, R.P. Brown, K.I. Johnson, M.S. Binder, B.M. Kluger, Self-reported efficacy of cannabis and other complementary medicine modalities by Parkinson's disease patients in colorado., *Evid. Based. Complement. Alternat. Med*. 2015 (2015) 874849. doi:10.1155/2015/874849.
- [175] Y. Balash, L. Bar-Lev Schleider, A.D. Korczyn, H. Shabtai, J. Knaani, A. Rosenberg, Y. Baruch, R. Djaldetti, N. Giladi, T. Gurevich, Medical Cannabis in Parkinson Disease, *Clin. Neuropharmacol*. 40 (2017) 268–272. doi:10.1097/WNF.0000000000000246.
- [176] R.B. Laprairie, A.M. Bagher, M.E.M. Kelly, D.J. Dupré, E.M. Denovan-Wright, Type 1 cannabinoid receptor ligands display functional selectivity in a cell culture model of striatal medium spiny projection neurons., *J. Biol. Chem*. 289 (2014) 24845–62. doi:10.1074/jbc.M114.557025.
- [177] B.K. Atwood, J. Wager-Miller, C. Haskins, A. Straiker, K. Mackie, Functional selectivity in CB(2) cannabinoid receptor signaling and regulation: implications for the therapeutic potential of CB(2) ligands., *Mol. Pharmacol*. 81 (2012) 250–63. doi:10.1124/mol.111.074013.
- [178] P. Carriba, O. Ortiz, K. Patkar, Z. Justinova, J. Stroik, A. Themann, C. Müller, A.S. Woods, B.T. Hope, F. Ciruela, V. Casadó, E.I. Canela, C. Lluís, S.R. Goldberg, R. Moratalla, R. Franco, S. Ferré, Striatal adenosine A2A and cannabinoid CB1 receptors form functional heteromeric complexes that mediate the motor effects of cannabinoids., *Neuropsychopharmacology*. 32 (2007) 2249–59. doi:10.1038/sj.npp.1301375.
- [179] L. Callén, E. Moreno, P. Barroso-Chinea, D. Moreno-Delgado, A. Cortés, J. Mallol, V. Casadó, J.L. Lanciego, R. Franco, C. Lluís, E.I. Canela, P.J. McCormick, Cannabinoid receptors CB1 and CB2 form functional heteromers in brain., *J. Biol. Chem*. 287 (2012) 20851–65. doi:10.1074/jbc.M111.335273.
- [180] V. Mesnage, J.L. Houeto, A.M. Bonnet, I. Clavier, I. Arnulf, F. Cattelin, G. Le Fur, P. Damier, M.L. Welter, Y. Agid, Neurokinin B, neurotensin, and cannabinoid receptor antagonists and Parkinson disease, *Clin Neuropharmacol*. 27 (2004) 108–110. doi:00002826-200405000-00003 [pii].
- [181] J. Jankovic, R.A.C. Roos, Chorea associated with Huntington's disease: To treat or not to treat?, *Mov. Disord*. 29 (2014) 1414–1418. doi:10.1002/mds.25996.

- [182] J.S. Paulsen, A.C. Miller, T. Hayes, E. Shaw, Cognitive and behavioral changes in Huntington disease before diagnosis, in: *Handb. Clin. Neurol.*, 2017: pp. 69–91. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-801893-4.00006-7.
- [183] U. Rüb, K. Seidel, H. Heinsen, J.P. Vonsattel, W.F. den Dunnen, H.W. Korf, Huntington's disease (HD): the neuropathology of a multisystem neurodegenerative disorder of the human brain., *Brain Pathol.* 26 (2016) 726–740. doi:10.1111/bpa.12426.
- [184] C.A. Ross, M. Kronenbuerger, W. Duan, R.L. Margolis, Mechanisms underlying neurodegeneration in Huntington disease: applications to novel disease-modifying therapies., *Handb. Clin. Neurol.* 144 (2017) 15–28. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-801893-4.00002-X.
- [185] D. Zielonka, M. Mielcarek, G.B. Landwehrmeyer, Update on Huntington's disease: advances in care and emerging therapeutic options., *Parkinsonism Relat. Disord.* 21 (2015) 169–78. doi:10.1016/j.parkreldis.2014.12.013.
- [186] C. Zuccato, E. Cattaneo, Huntington's disease., *Handb. Exp. Pharmacol.* 220 (2014) 357–409. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-45106-5_14.
- [187] L. Menalled, D. Brunner, Animal models of Huntington's disease for translation to the clinic: Best practices, *Mov. Disord.* 29 (2014) 1375–1390. doi:10.1002/mds.26006.
- [188] C. Sampaio, B. Borowsky, R. Reilmann, Clinical trials in Huntington's disease: Interventions in early clinical development and newer methodological approaches., *Mov. Disord.* 29 (2014) 1419–28. doi:10.1002/mds.26021.
- [189] K. Kieburtz, R. Reilmann, C.W. Olanow, Huntington's disease: Current and future therapeutic prospects, *Mov. Disord.* (2018). doi:10.1002/mds.27363.
- [190] I. Lastres-Becker, R. De Miguel, J.J. Fernández-Ruiz, The endocannabinoid system and Huntington's disease., *Curr. Drug Targets. CNS Neurol. Disord.* 2 (2003) 335–47.
- [191] K.R. Müller-Vahl, H. Kolbe, U. Schneider, H.M. Emrich, Cannabis in movement disorders., *Forsch. Komplementarmed.* 6 Suppl 3 (1999) 23–7.
- [192] P. Consroe, J. Laguna, J. Allender, S. Snider, L. Stern, R. Sandyk, K. Kennedy, K. Schram, Controlled clinical trial of cannabidiol in Huntington's disease., *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 40 (1991) 701–8.
- [193] K.R. Müller-Vahl, U. Schneider, H.M. Emrich, Nabilone increases choreatic movements in Huntington's disease., *Mov. Disord.* 14 (1999) 1038–40.
- [194] A. Curtis, H. Rickards, Nabilone could treat chorea and irritability in Huntington's disease., *J. Neuropsychiatry Clin. Neurosci.* 18 (2006) 553–4. doi:10.1176/jnp.2006.18.4.553.
- [195] A. Curtis, I. Mitchell, S. Patel, N. Ives, H. Rickards, A pilot study using nabilone for symptomatic treatment in Huntington's disease., *Mov. Disord.* 24 (2009) 2254–9. doi:10.1002/mds.22809.
- [196] J.L. López-Sendón Moreno, J. García Caldentey, P. Trigo Cubillo, C. Ruiz Romero, G. García Ribas, M.A.A. Alonso Arias, M.J. García de Yébenes, R.M. Tolón, I. Galve-Roperh, O. Sagredo, S. Valdeolivas, E. Resel, S. Ortega-Gutierrez, M.L. García-Bermejo, J. Fernández Ruiz, M. Guzmán, J. García de Yébenes Prous, A double-blind, randomized, cross-over, placebo-controlled, pilot trial with Sativex in Huntington's disease., *J. Neurol.* 263 (2016) 1390–400. doi:10.1007/s00415-016-8145-9.
- [197] C. Saft, S.M. von Hein, T. Lücke, C. Thiels, M. Peball, A. Djamshidian, B. Heim, K. Seppi, Cannabinoids for Treatment of Dystonia in Huntington's Disease, *J. Huntingtons. Dis.* (2018) 1–7. doi:10.3233/JHD-170283.

- [198] M. Glass, M. Dragunow, R.L. Faull, The pattern of neurodegeneration in Huntington's disease: a comparative study of cannabinoid, dopamine, adenosine and GABA(A) receptor alterations in the human basal ganglia in Huntington's disease., *Neuroscience*. 97 (2000) 505–19.
- [199] I. Lastres-Becker, F. Berrendero, J.J. Lucas, E. Martín-Aparicio, A. Yamamoto, J.A. Ramos, J.J. Fernández-Ruiz, Loss of mRNA levels, binding and activation of GTP-binding proteins for cannabinoid CB1 receptors in the basal ganglia of a transgenic model of Huntington's disease., *Brain Res*. 929 (2002) 236–42.
- [200] M.J. Dowie, H.B. Bradshaw, M.L. Howard, L.F.B. Nicholson, R.L.M. Faull, A.J. Hannan, M. Glass, Altered CB1 receptor and endocannabinoid levels precede motor symptom onset in a transgenic mouse model of Huntington's disease., *Neuroscience*. 163 (2009) 456–65. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2009.06.014.
- [201] M. Ooms, R. Rietjens, J.R. Rangarajan, K. Vunckx, S. Valdeolivas, F. Maes, U. Himmelreich, J. Fernandez-Ruiz, G. Bormans, K. Van Laere, C. Casteels, Early decrease of type 1 cannabinoid receptor binding and phosphodiesterase 10A activity in vivo in R6/2 Huntington mice., *Neurobiol. Aging*. 35 (2014) 2858–2869. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2014.06.010.
- [202] M.A. Pouladi, L.M. Stanek, Y. Xie, S. Franciosi, A.L. Southwell, Y. Deng, S. Butland, W. Zhang, S.H. Cheng, L.S. Shihabuddin, M.R. Hayden, Marked differences in neurochemistry and aggregates despite similar behavioural and neuropathological features of Huntington disease in the full-length BACHD and YAC128 mice., *Hum. Mol. Genet*. 21 (2012) 2219–32. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddc037.
- [203] B. Woodman, R. Butler, C. Landles, M.K. Lupton, J. Tse, E. Hockly, H. Moffitt, K. Sathasivam, G.P. Bates, The Hdh(Q150/Q150) knock-in mouse model of HD and the R6/2 exon 1 model develop comparable and widespread molecular phenotypes., *Brain Res. Bull.* 72 (2007) 83–97. doi:10.1016/j.brainresbull.2006.11.004.
- [204] A. Pintor, M.T. Tebano, A. Martire, R. Grieco, M. Galluzzo, M.L. Scattoni, A. Pezzola, R. Coccorello, F. Felici, V. Cuomo, D. Piomelli, G. Calamandrei, P. Popoli, The cannabinoid receptor agonist WIN 55,212-2 attenuates the effects induced by quinolinic acid in the rat striatum., *Neuropharmacology*. 51 (2006) 1004–12. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2006.06.013.
- [205] C. Blázquez, A. Chiarlone, O. Sagredo, T. Aguado, M.R. Pazos, E. Resel, J. Palazuelos, B. Julien, M. Salazar, C. Börner, C. Benito, C. Carrasco, M. Diez-Zaera, P. Paoletti, M. Díaz-Hernández, C. Ruiz, M. Sendtner, J.J. Lucas, J.G. de Yébenes, G. Marsicano, K. Monory, B. Lutz, J. Romero, J. Alberch, S. Ginés, J. Kraus, J. Fernández-Ruiz, I. Galve-Roperh, M. Guzmán, Loss of striatal type 1 cannabinoid receptors is a key pathogenic factor in Huntington's disease., *Brain*. 134 (2011) 119–36. doi:10.1093/brain/awq278.
- [206] R.B. Laprairie, J.R. Warford, S. Hutchings, G.S. Robertson, M.E.M. Kelly, E.M. Denovan-Wright, The cytokine and endocannabinoid systems are co-regulated by NF-κB p65/RelA in cell culture and transgenic mouse models of Huntington's disease and in striatal tissue from Huntington's disease patients., *J. Neuroimmunol*. 267 (2014) 61–72. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2013.12.008.
- [207] I. Lastres-Becker, N. Bizat, F. Boyer, P. Hantraye, J. Fernández-Ruiz, E. Brouillet, Potential involvement of cannabinoid receptors in 3-nitropropionic acid toxicity in vivo., *Neuroreport*. 15 (2004) 2375–9.
- [208] V. Chiodi, M. Uchigashima, S. Beggiato, A. Ferrante, M. Armida, A. Martire, R.L. Potenza, L. Ferraro, S. Tanganelli, M. Watanabe, M.R. Domenici, P. Popoli, Unbalance of CB1 receptors expressed in GABAergic and glutamatergic neurons

- in a transgenic mouse model of Huntington's disease., *Neurobiol. Dis.* 45 (2012) 983–91. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2011.12.017.
- [209] A. Chiarlone, L. Bellocchio, C. Blázquez, E. Resel, E. Soria-Gómez, A. Cannich, J.J. Ferrero, O. Sagredo, C. Benito, J. Romero, J. Sánchez-Prieto, B. Lutz, J. Fernández-Ruiz, I. Galve-Roperh, M. Guzmán, A restricted population of CB1 cannabinoid receptors with neuroprotective activity., *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 111 (2014) 8257–62. doi:10.1073/pnas.1400988111.
- [210] J. Fernández-Ruiz, The endocannabinoid system as a target for the treatment of motor dysfunction, *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 156 (2009) 1029–1040. doi:10.1111/j.1476-5381.2008.00088.x.
- [211] A. Ruiz-Calvo, I.B. Maroto, R. Bajo-Grañeras, A. Chiarlone, Á. Gaudio, J.J. Ferrero, E. Resel, J. Sánchez-Prieto, J.A. Rodríguez-Navarro, G. Marsicano, I. Galve-Roperh, L. Bellocchio, M. Guzmán, Pathway-Specific Control of Striatal Neuron Vulnerability by Corticostriatal Cannabinoid CB1 Receptors., *Cereb. Cortex.* 28 (2018) 307–322. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhx285.
- [212] O. Sagredo, S. González, I. Aroyo, M.R. Pazos, C. Benito, I. Lastres-Becker, J.P. Romero, R.M. Tolón, R. Mechoulam, E. Brouillet, J. Romero, J. Fernández-Ruiz, Cannabinoid CB2 receptor agonists protect the striatum against malonate toxicity: relevance for Huntington's disease., *Glia.* 57 (2009) 1154–67. doi:10.1002/glia.20838.
- [213] J. Palazuelos, T. Aguado, M.R. Pazos, B. Julien, C. Carrasco, E. Resel, O. Sagredo, C. Benito, J. Romero, I. Azcoitia, J. Fernández-Ruiz, M. Guzmán, I. Galve-Roperh, Microglial CB2 cannabinoid receptors are neuroprotective in Huntington's disease excitotoxicity., *Brain.* 132 (2009) 3152–64. doi:10.1093/brain/awp239.
- [214] J. Bouchard, J. Truong, K. Bouchard, D. Dunkelberger, S. Desrayaud, S. Moussaoui, S.J. Tabrizi, N. Stella, P.J. Muchowski, Cannabinoid receptor 2 signaling in peripheral immune cells modulates disease onset and severity in mouse models of Huntington's disease., *J. Neurosci.* 32 (2012) 18259–68. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4008-12.2012.
- [215] M.J. Dowie, N.L. Grimsey, T. Hoffman, R.L.M. Faull, M. Glass, Cannabinoid receptor CB2 is expressed on vascular cells, but not astroglial cells in the post-mortem human Huntington's disease brain, *J. Chem. Neuroanat.* 59–60 (2014) 62–71. doi:10.1016/j.jchemneu.2014.06.004.
- [216] I. Lastres-Becker, F. Fezza, M. Cebeira, T. Bisogno, J.A. Ramos, A. Milone, J. Fernández-Ruiz, V. Di Marzo, Changes in endocannabinoid transmission in the basal ganglia in a rat model of Huntington's disease., *Neuroreport.* 12 (2001) 2125–9.
- [217] T. Bisogno, A. Martire, S. Petrosino, P. Popoli, V. Di Marzo, Symptom-related changes of endocannabinoid and palmitoylethanolamide levels in brain areas of R6/2 mice, a transgenic model of Huntington's disease., *Neurochem. Int.* 52 (2008) 307–13. doi:10.1016/j.neuint.2007.06.031.
- [218] M. Bari, N. Battista, M. Valenza, N. Mastrangelo, M. Malaponti, G. Catanzaro, D. Centonze, A. Finazzi-Agrò, E. Cattaneo, M. Maccarrone, In vitro and in vivo models of Huntington's disease show alterations in the endocannabinoid system., *FEBS J.* 280 (2013) 3376–88. doi:10.1111/febs.12329.
- [219] N. Battista, M. Bari, A. Tarditi, C. Mariotti, A.-C. Bachoud-Lévi, C. Zuccato, A. Finazzi-Agrò, S. Genitrini, M. Peschanski, S. Di Donato, E. Cattaneo, M. Maccarrone, Severe deficiency of the fatty acid amide hydrolase (FAAH) activity segregates with the Huntington's disease mutation in peripheral lymphocytes.,

- Neurobiol. Dis. 27 (2007) 108–16. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2007.04.012.
- [220] O. Sagredo, M.R. Pazos, S. Valdeolivas, J. Fernandez-Ruiz, Cannabinoids: novel medicines for the treatment of Huntington’s disease., *Recent Pat. CNS Drug Discov.* 7 (2012) 41–8.
- [221] A. V Naydenov, M.D. Sepers, K. Swinney, L.A. Raymond, R.D. Palmiter, N. Stella, Genetic rescue of CB1 receptors on medium spiny neurons prevents loss of excitatory striatal synapses but not motor impairment in HD mice., *Neurobiol. Dis.* 71 (2014) 140–50. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2014.08.009.
- [222] S. Mievis, D. Blum, C. Ledent, Worsening of Huntington disease phenotype in CB1 receptor knockout mice., *Neurobiol. Dis.* 42 (2011) 524–9. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2011.03.006.
- [223] S. Pietropaolo, L. Bellocchio, A. Ruiz-Calvo, M. Cabanas, Z. Du, M. Guzmán, M. Garret, Y.H. Cho, Chronic cannabinoid receptor stimulation selectively prevents motor impairments in a mouse model of Huntington’s disease., *Neuropharmacology.* 89 (2015) 368–74. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2014.07.021.
- [224] M.J. Dowie, M.L. Howard, L.F.B. Nicholson, R.L.M. Faull, A.J. Hannan, M. Glass, Behavioural and molecular consequences of chronic cannabinoid treatment in Huntington’s disease transgenic mice., *Neuroscience.* 170 (2010) 324–36. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2010.06.056.
- [225] O. Sagredo, J.A. Ramos, A. Decio, R. Mechoulam, J. Fernández-Ruiz, Cannabidiol reduced the striatal atrophy caused 3-nitropropionic acid in vivo by mechanisms independent of the activation of cannabinoid, vanilloid TRPV1 and adenosine A2A receptors., *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 26 (2007) 843–51. doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2007.05717.x.
- [226] S. Valdeolivas, C. Navarrete, I. Cantarero, M.L. Bellido, E. Muñoz, O. Sagredo, Neuroprotective properties of cannabigerol in Huntington’s disease: studies in R6/2 mice and 3-nitropropionate-lesioned mice., *Neurotherapeutics.* 12 (2015) 185–99. doi:10.1007/s13311-014-0304-z.
- [227] J. Díaz-Alonso, J. Paraíso-Luna, C. Navarrete, C. Del Río, I. Cantarero, B. Palomares, J. Aguarales, J. Fernández-Ruiz, M.L. Bellido, F. Pollastro, G. Appendino, M.A. Calzado, I. Galve-Roperh, E. Muñoz, VCE-003.2, a novel cannabigerol derivative, enhances neuronal progenitor cell survival and alleviates symptomatology in murine models of Huntington’s disease., *Sci. Rep.* 6 (2016) 29789. doi:10.1038/srep29789.
- [228] S. Valdeolivas, V. Satta, R.G. Pertwee, J. Fernández-Ruiz, O. Sagredo, Sativex-like combination of phytocannabinoids is neuroprotective in malonate-lesioned rats, an inflammatory model of Huntington’s disease: role of CB1 and CB2 receptors., *ACS Chem. Neurosci.* 3 (2012) 400–6. doi:10.1021/cn200114w.
- [229] O. Sagredo, M.R. Pazos, V. Satta, J.A. Ramos, R.G. Pertwee, J. Fernández-Ruiz, Neuroprotective effects of phytocannabinoid-based medicines in experimental models of Huntington’s disease., *J. Neurosci. Res.* 89 (2011) 1509–18. doi:10.1002/jnr.22682.
- [230] S. Valdeolivas, O. Sagredo, M. Delgado, M.A. Pozo, J. Fernández-Ruiz, Effects of a Sativex-Like Combination of Phytocannabinoids on Disease Progression in R6/2 Mice, an Experimental Model of Huntington’s Disease., *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 18 (2017) 684. doi:10.3390/ijms18040684.
- [231] P. Consroe, Brain Cannabinoid Systems as Targets for the Therapy of Neurological Disorders, *Neurobiol. Dis.* 5 (1998) 534–551. doi:10.1006/nbdi.1998.0220.
- [232] N.A. van de Zande, T.H. Massey, D. McLauchlan, A. Pryce Roberts, R. Zutt, M.

- Wardle, G.C. Payne, C. Clenaghan, M.A.J. Tijssen, A.E. Rosser, K.J. Peall, Clinical characterization of dystonia in adult patients with Huntington's disease., *Eur. J. Neurol.* 24 (2017) 1140–1147. doi:10.1111/ene.13349.
- [233] O. Hardiman, L.H. van den Berg, M.C. Kiernan, Clinical diagnosis and management of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, *Nat. Rev. Neurol.* 7 (2011) 639–649. doi:10.1038/nrneurol.2011.153.
- [234] A. Al-Chalabi, O. Hardiman, The epidemiology of ALS: a conspiracy of genes, environment and time., *Nat. Rev. Neurol.* 9 (2013) 617–28. doi:10.1038/nrneurol.2013.203.
- [235] A.E. Renton, E. Majounie, A. Waite, J. Simón-Sánchez, S. Rollinson, J.R. Gibbs, J.C. Schymick, H. Laaksovirta, J.C. van Swieten, L. Myllykangas, H. Kalimo, A. Paetau, Y. Abramzon, A.M. Remes, A. Kaganovich, S.W. Scholz, J. Duckworth, J. Ding, D.W. Harmer, D.G. Hernandez, J.O. Johnson, K. Mok, M. Ryten, D. Trabzuni, R.J. Guerreiro, R.W. Orrell, J. Neal, A. Murray, J. Pearson, I.E. Jansen, D. Sondervan, H. Seelaar, D. Blake, K. Young, N. Halliwell, J.B. Callister, G. Toulson, A. Richardson, A. Gerhard, J. Snowden, D. Mann, D. Neary, M.A. Nalls, T. Peuralinna, L. Jansson, V.-M. Isoviita, A.-L. Kaivorinne, M. Hölttä-Vuori, E. Ikonen, R. Sulkava, M. Benatar, J. Wu, A. Chiò, G. Restagno, G. Borghero, M. Sabatelli, D. Heckerman, E. Rogaeva, L. Zinman, J.D. Rothstein, M. Sendtner, C. Drepper, E.E. Eichler, C. Alkan, Z. Abdullaev, S.D. Pack, A. Dutra, E. Pak, J. Hardy, A. Singleton, N.M. Williams, P. Heutink, S. Pickering-Brown, H.R. Morris, P.J. Tienari, B.J. Traynor, B.J. Traynor, A Hexanucleotide Repeat Expansion in C9ORF72 Is the Cause of Chromosome 9p21-Linked ALS-FTD, *Neuron.* 72 (2011) 257–268. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2011.09.010.
- [236] I. Gijselinck, M. Cruts, C. Van Broeckhoven, The Genetics of C9orf72 Expansions., *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med.* 8 (2018) a026757. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a026757.
- [237] F.-B. Gao, S. Almeida, R. Lopez-Gonzalez, Dysregulated molecular pathways in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis-frontotemporal dementia spectrum disorder., *EMBO J.* 36 (2017) 2931–2950. doi:10.15252/embj.201797568.
- [238] M. Cruts, I. Gijselinck, T. Van Langenhove, J. van der Zee, C. Van Broeckhoven, Current insights into the C9orf72 repeat expansion diseases of the FTL/ALS spectrum., *Trends Neurosci.* 36 (2013) 450–9. doi:10.1016/j.tins.2013.04.010.
- [239] E. Foran, D. Trotti, Glutamate transporters and the excitotoxic path to motor neuron degeneration in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis., *Antioxid. Redox Signal.* 11 (2009) 1587–602. doi:10.1089/ars.2009.2444.
- [240] L. Ferraiuolo, J. Kirby, A.J. Grierson, M. Sendtner, P.J. Shaw, Molecular pathways of motor neuron injury in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, *Nat. Rev. Neurol.* 7 (2011) 616–630. doi:10.1038/nrneurol.2011.152.
- [241] K.J. De Vos, M. Hafezparast, Neurobiology of axonal transport defects in motor neuron diseases: Opportunities for translational research?, *Neurobiol. Dis.* 105 (2017) 283–299. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2017.02.004.
- [242] P. Van Damme, W. Robberecht, L. Van Den Bosch, Modelling amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: progress and possibilities., *Dis. Model. Mech.* 10 (2017) 537–549. doi:10.1242/dmm.029058.
- [243] A.A. Habib, H. Mitsumoto, Emerging drugs for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, *Expert Opin. Emerg. Drugs.* 16 (2011) 537–558. doi:10.1517/14728214.2011.604312.
- [244] D. Petrov, C. Mansfield, A. Moussy, O. Hermine, ALS Clinical Trials Review: 20 Years of Failure. Are We Any Closer to Registering a New Treatment?, *Front.*

- Aging Neurosci. 9 (2017) 68. doi:10.3389/fnagi.2017.00068.
- [245] G.T. Carter, M.E. Abood, S.K. Aggarwal, M.D. Weiss, Cannabis and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: hypothetical and practical applications, and a call for clinical trials., *Am. J. Hosp. Palliat. Care.* 27 (2010) 347–56. doi:10.1177/1049909110369531.
- [246] S. Rossi, G. Bernardi, D. Centonze, The endocannabinoid system in the inflammatory and neurodegenerative processes of multiple sclerosis and of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, *Exp. Neurol.* 224 (2010) 92–102. doi:10.1016/j.expneurol.2010.03.030.
- [247] A. Witting, P. Weydt, S. Hong, M. Klot, T. Moller, N. Stella, Endocannabinoids accumulate in spinal cord of SOD1 G93A transgenic mice., *J. Neurochem.* 89 (2004) 1555–7. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2004.02544.x.
- [248] L.G. Bilslund, J.R.T. Dick, G. Pryce, S. Petrosino, V. Di Marzo, D. Baker, L. Greensmith, Increasing cannabinoid levels by pharmacological and genetic manipulation delay disease progression in SOD1 mice., *FASEB J.* 20 (2006) 1003–5. doi:10.1096/fj.05-4743fje.
- [249] M. Moreno-Martet, F. Espejo-Porras, J. Fernández-Ruiz, E. de Lago, Changes in Endocannabinoid Receptors and Enzymes in the Spinal Cord of SOD1^{G93A} Transgenic Mice and Evaluation of a Sativex[®]-like Combination of Phytocannabinoids: Interest for Future Therapies in Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis, *CNS Neurosci. Ther.* 20 (2014) 809–815. doi:10.1111/cns.12262.
- [250] N. Pasquarelli, M. Engelskirchen, J. Hanselmann, S. Endres, C. Porazik, H. Bayer, E. Buck, M. Karsak, P. Weydt, B. Ferger, A. Witting, Evaluation of monoacylglycerol lipase as a therapeutic target in a transgenic mouse model of ALS., *Neuropharmacology.* 124 (2017) 157–169. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2017.03.037.
- [251] J.L. Shoemaker, K.A. Seely, R.L. Reed, J.P. Crow, P.L. Prather, The CB2 cannabinoid agonist AM-1241 prolongs survival in a transgenic mouse model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis when initiated at symptom onset., *J. Neurochem.* 101 (2007) 87–98. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2006.04346.x.
- [252] F. Espejo-Porras, F. Piscitelli, R. Verde, J.A. Ramos, V. Di Marzo, E. de Lago, J. Fernández-Ruiz, Changes in the endocannabinoid signaling system in CNS structures of TDP-43 transgenic mice: relevance for a neuroprotective therapy in TDP-43-related disorders., *J. Neuroimmune Pharmacol.* 10 (2015) 233–44. doi:10.1007/s11481-015-9602-4.
- [253] M. Fernández-Trapero, F. Espejo-Porras, C. Rodríguez-Cueto, J.R. Coates, C. Pérez-Díaz, E. de Lago, J. Fernández-Ruiz, Upregulation of CB2 receptors in reactive astrocytes in canine degenerative myelopathy, a disease model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis., *Dis. Model. Mech.* 10 (2017) 551–558. doi:10.1242/dmm.028373.
- [254] Y. Yiangou, P. Facer, P. Durrenberger, I.P. Chessell, A. Naylor, C. Bountra, R.R. Banati, P. Anand, COX-2, CB2 and P2X7-immunoreactivities are increased in activated microglial cells/macrophages of multiple sclerosis and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis spinal cord., *BMC Neurol.* 6 (2006) 12. doi:10.1186/1471-2377-6-12.
- [255] F. Espejo-Porras, J. Fernández-Ruiz, E. de Lago, Analysis of endocannabinoid receptors and enzymes in the post-mortem motor cortex and spinal cord of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis patients., *Amyotroph. Lateral Scler. Frontotemporal Degener.* (2018) 1–10. doi:10.1080/21678421.2018.1425454.
- [256] P. Zhao, S. Ignacio, E.C. Beattie, M.E. Abood, Altered presymptomatic AMPA

- and cannabinoid receptor trafficking in motor neurons of ALS model mice: implications for excitotoxicity., *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 27 (2008) 572–9.
doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2008.06041.x.
- [257] O. Butovsky, M.P. Jedrychowski, R. Cialic, S. Krasemann, G. Murugaiyan, Z. Fanek, D.J. Greco, P.M. Wu, C.E. Doykan, O. Kiner, R.J. Lawson, M.P. Frosch, N. Pochet, R. El Fatimy, A.M. Krichevsky, S.P. Gygi, H. Lassmann, J. Berry, M.E. Cudkowicz, H.L. Weiner, Targeting miR-155 restores abnormal microglia and attenuates disease in SOD1 mice, *Ann. Neurol.* 77 (2015) 75–99.
doi:10.1002/ana.24304.
- [258] C. Raman, S.D. McAllister, G. Rizvi, S.G. Patel, D.H. Moore, M.E. Abood, Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: delayed disease progression in mice by treatment with a cannabinoid, *Amyotroph. Lateral Scler. Other Mot. Neuron Disord.* 5 (2004) 33–39. doi:10.1080/14660820310016813.
- [259] P. Weydt, S. Hong, A. Witting, T. Möller, N. Stella, M. Kliot, Cannabinol delays symptom onset in SOD1 (G93A) transgenic mice without affecting survival., *Amyotroph. Lateral Scler. Other Motor Neuron Disord.* 6 (2005) 182–4.
doi:10.1080/14660820510030149.
- [260] K. Kim, D.H. Moore, A. Makriyannis, M.E. Abood, AM1241, a cannabinoid CB2 receptor selective compound, delays disease progression in a mouse model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis., *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 542 (2006) 100–5.
doi:10.1016/j.ejphar.2006.05.025.
- [261] F. Espejo-Porras, L. García-Toscano, C. Rodríguez-Cueto, I. Santos-García, E. de Lago, J. Fernandez-Ruiz, Targeting glial cannabinoid CB2 receptors to delay the progression of the pathological phenotype in TDP-43 (A315T) transgenic mice, a model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis., *Br. J. Pharmacol.* (2018).
doi:10.1111/bph.14216.
- [262] D. Amtmann, P. Weydt, K.L. Johnson, M.P. Jensen, G.T. Carter, Survey of cannabis use in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, *Am. J. Hosp. Palliat. Med.* 21 (2004) 95–104. doi:10.1177/104990910402100206.
- [263] M. Weber, B. Goldman, S. Truniger, Tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) for cramps in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a randomised, double-blind crossover trial., *J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry.* 81 (2010) 1135–40.
doi:10.1136/jnnp.2009.200642.
- [264] M. Joerger, J. Wilkins, S. Fagnini, R. Baldinger, R. Brenneisen, U. Schneider, B. Goldman, M. Weber, Single-dose pharmacokinetics and tolerability of oral delta-9- tetrahydrocannabinol in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis., *Drug Metab. Lett.* 6 (2012) 102–8.
- [265] F.-R.J. de Lago E, Moreno-Martet M, Espejo-Porras F, Endocannabinoids and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, in: F. L (Ed.), *Cannabinoids Neurol. Ment. Dis.*, Elsevier, 2015: pp. 99–124.

Figure legends

Figure 1: Versatility of the endocannabinoid system (ECS) elements to counteract the effects of aging and neurodegeneration. The endocannabinoid system (ECS) modulates common traits of neurodegeneration counteracting neuronal death, oxidative stress, neuroinflammation, or abnormal protein accumulation. The key location of the different ECS elements within the brain enables modulation of crucial processes for the correct balance between neuron survival and degeneration. Neurons express preferentially CB₁ receptors involved in the regulation of neurotransmitter release. During the degenerative process, these receptors experience important alterations that may contribute to neuronal death. Resting microglia express low levels of CB₂ receptors, and the levels were up-regulated under pathological conditions. Targeting these receptors modulates neuroinflammatory responses. Astrocytes express low levels of CB₁ receptors. Upon activation, they may modify the expression of either CB₁ or CB₂ receptor expression. The different cell types have the machinery for endocannabinoid biosynthesis, 2-arachidonoylglycerol (2-AG), or anandamide (AEA), thus contributing to the endocannabinoid tone of the brain. The specific contribution of each cell type may vary under different pathological conditions.

Figure 2: Broad-spectrum profile of cannabinoids for the treatment of different neuropathological traits of neurodegenerative diseases. Beneficial effects of cannabinoid-based therapies were determined from animal models of Alzheimer's disease (AD), Parkinson's disease (PD), Huntington's disease (HD), and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS). Modulation in microglial immune responses showed a therapeutic response in AD, PD, HD, and ALS models. The antioxidant properties of cannabinoids were beneficial in animal models of AD and HD. In models

of AD, targeting the endocannabinoid system successfully improved synaptic plasticity and prevented A β aggregation and toxicity. Glutamatergic excitotoxicity was reversed by cannabinoid treatment in animal models of AD and HD. Endocannabinoid signaling modulation provides neuroprotection and disease modification in experimental models of PD, HD, and ALS.